

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Progress in Neurobiology



Zebrafish models of human motor neuron diseases: Advantages and limitations





Patrick J. Babin^{a,*}, Cyril Goizet^{a,b}, Demetrio Raldúa^{c,*}

^a Univ. Bordeaux, Maladies Rares: Génétique et Métabolisme (MRGM), EA 4576, Talence, France

^b CHU Bordeaux, Hôpital Pellegrin, Service de Génétique Médicale, Bordeaux, France

^c IDÆA-CSIC, Barcelona, Spain

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 10 December 2013 Received in revised form 11 March 2014 Accepted 14 March 2014 Available online 3 April 2014

Keywords: Motor neuron diseases Zebrafish Upper and lower motor neurons Hereditary spastic paraplegia Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis Spinal muscular atrophy

ABSTRACT

Motor neuron diseases (MNDs) are an etiologically heterogeneous group of disorders of neurodegenerative origin, which result in degeneration of lower (LMNs) and/or upper motor neurons (UMNs). Neurodegenerative MNDs include pure hereditary spastic paraplegia (HSP), which involves specific degeneration of UMNs, leading to progressive spasticity of the lower limbs. In contrast, spinal muscular atrophy (SMA) involves the specific degeneration of LMNs, with symmetrical muscle weakness and atrophy. Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS), the most common adult-onset MND, is characterized by the degeneration of both UMNs and LMNs, leading to progressive muscle weakness, atrophy, and spasticity. A review of the comparative neuroanatomy of the human and zebrafish motor systems showed that, while the zebrafish was a homologous model for LMN disorders, such as SMA, it was only partially relevant in the case of UMN disorders, due to the absence of corticospinal and rubrospinal tracts in its central nervous system. Even considering the limitation of this model to fully reproduce the human UMN disorders, zebrafish offer an excellent alternative vertebrate model for the molecular and genetic dissection of MND mechanisms. Its advantages include the conservation of genome and physiological processes and applicable in vivo tools, including easy imaging, loss or gain of function methods, behavioral tests to examine changes in motor activity, and the ease of simultaneous chemical/drug testing on large numbers of animals. This facilitates the assessment of the environmental origin of MNDs, alone or in combination with genetic traits and putative modifier genes. Positive hits obtained by phenotype-based small-molecule screening using zebrafish may potentially be effective drugs for treatment of human MNDs. © 2014 The Authors. Published by Elsevier Ltd. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND

listed by Elsevier Ltd. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/).

Contents

1.	Introduction	37
2.	Comparative neuroanatomy of human and zebrafish motor systems	37
	2.1. Spinal cord	37

Abbreviations: AChR, acetylcholine receptor; α -MNs, alpha motor neurons; ALS, amyotrophic lateral sclerosis; AMO, antisense morpholino oligonucleotide; AMPAR, α -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid receptors; BMP, bone morphogenetic protein; BVVL, Brown-Vialetto-Van Laere syndrome; CaP MNs, caudal primary motor neurons; CMT, Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease; CMT2, axonal form of Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease; CNS, central nervous systems; CST, corticospinal tract; dHMN, distal hereditary motor neuropathy; dpf, days post fertilization; DCSMA, dominant congenital SMA; EMS, embryonic malabsorption syndrome; ER, endoplasmic reticulum; f-ALS, familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis; FL, Fazio-Londe syndrome; FUS, fused-in-sarcoma; γ -MNs, gamma motor neurons; hpf, hours post fertilization; HSP, hereditary spastic paraplegia; IN, interneurons; LAAHD, lethal arthrogryposis with anterior horn cell disease; LCCS1, lethal congenital contracture syndrome 1; LCST, lateral corticospinal tract; LMC, lateral motor columns; LMNs, lower motor neurons; MIP MNs, middle primary motor neurons; MLF, medial longitudinal fasciculus; PLS, primary lateral sclerosis; SMNs, primary motor neurons; PCH, pontocerebellar hypoplasia; RF, reticular formation; RoP MNs, rostral primary motor neurons; s-ALS, sporadic amyotrophic lateral sclerosis; SMA, spinal muscular atrophy; SMC, superior colliculus; SMA, spinal muscular atrophy; SMD-PME, spinal muscular atrophy with progressive myoclonic epilepsy; SMN1, survival of motor neurons; VaP, variable primary motor neurons; VCST, ventral corticospinal tract; VEGF, vascular endothelial growth factor; VN, vestibular nuclei; vS, ventrally projecting secondary motor neurons; WT, wild-type.

* Corresponding authors at: Université de Bordeaux, Maladies Rares: Génétique et Métabolisme (MRGM), EA 4576, F-33405, Talence cedex, France. Tel.: +33 0540008776. E-mail addresses: p.babin@gpp.u-bordeaux1.fr (PJ. Babin), drpqam@cid.csic.es (D. Raldúa).

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.pneurobio.2014.03.001

0301-0082/© 2014 The Authors. Published by Elsevier Ltd. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/ 3.0/).

	2.2.	Brainstem	39
	2.3.	Motor cortex	40
3.	Is the	e zebrafish relevant for understanding the biology of MNDs in humans?	41
	3.1.	The good	41
		3.1.1. Genetic tools	41
		3.1.2. Behavioral genetics	42
		3.1.3. Screening small molecules with toxic or therapeutic effects on neurons and motor neuron diseases	42
	3.2.	The bad	43
	3.3.	The ugly	44
4.	Prope	erties of human and zebrafish motor neurons and implications for their selective vulnerability to neurodegenerative diseases	44
5.	Symp	ptoms of motor neuron degeneration disorders and the use of zebrafish models	45
	5.1.	Upper and lower motor neuron degeneration: amyotrophic lateral sclerosis	45
	5.2.	Upper motor neuron degeneration	47
		5.2.1. Hereditary spastic paraplegias	47
		5.2.2. Primary lateral sclerosis	49
	5.3.	Lower motor neuron degeneration	49
		5.3.1. Spinal muscular atrophy	49
		5.3.2. Distal hereditary motor neuropathy, spinal Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease, or distal spinal muscular atrophy	51
		5.3.3. Spinal and bulbar muscular atrophy	51
		5.3.4. Other motor neuron syndromes	51
6.	Some	e future prospects.	52
	Ackno	owledgements	52
	Refere	ences	52

1. Introduction

Historically, the term "motor neuron diseases" (MNDs) refers to disorders caused by the degeneration of motor neurons (MNs) located at anterior horn in the spinal cord or at the brainstem motor nuclei, with secondary Wallerian degeneration of motor axons (Desai and Olney, 2009). In fact, MNDs constitute an expanding, heterogeneous group of developmental and neurodegenerative disorders. Recently, substantial progress has been made in deciphering the molecular bases of numerous inherited conditions (Brown and Phil, 2000; Dion et al., 2009; Fink, 2013; Van Damme and Robberecht, 2009). These disorders are anatomically subdivided, depending on whether they involve upper motor neurons (UMNs), i.e. premotor neurons with soma located in higher regions of the brain and conveying descending commands for movement, lower motor neurons (LMNs), i.e. brain stem cranial motor nuclei and spinal MNs, or both (Brown and Phil, 2000). The UMNs of the central nervous systems (CNS) originate in the motor cortex or brainstem and relay motor information to the LMNs. LMNs are located in the cranial motor nuclei and spinal cord and relay impulses from the UMNs to the muscles at neuromuscular synapses to innervate the skeletal muscles (Pratt et al., 2012). UMN symptoms generally include weakness, speech problems, overactive tendon reflexes, spasticity, Hoffmann signs, Babinski signs, clonus, and inappropriate emotionality. LMN symptoms also include weakness, as well as attenuated reflexes, cramps, twitching, and muscle wasting. Considerable overlaps of clinical, paraclinical, and physiopathological characteristics may be observed between these entities, leading to persistent difficulty in establishing a precise diagnosis in some patients and raising controversies about the classification of these disorders.

Animal models of human MNDs, mostly rodents, but also the fruit fly (*Drosophila melanogaster*) and the nematode worm (*Caenorhabditis elegans*), have been used in attempts to understand the neurobiological basis of MNDs and predict successful treatment strategies (Bebee et al., 2012; Grice et al., 2011; Hirth, 2010; Lanson and Pandey, 2012; McGoldrick et al., 2013; Sleigh et al., 2011). The zebrafish (*Danio rerio*) is a vertebrate species, with a similar overall nervous system organization to humans, and is increasingly used to model human diseases (Seth et al., 2013). It represents a powerful experimental model for studying neurogenetic disorders and MNDs, due to the high conservation of genes

implicated in neurodegenerative diseases and physiological processes involved in nervous system morphogenesis and maintenance (Bandmann and Burton, 2010; Becker and Rinkwitz, 2012; Kabashi et al., 2011a; Xi et al., 2011). In view of the current emphasis on high-throughput screening to identify genetic interactions and pharmacological therapies, the zebrafish model has become an attractive alternative to rodents, thanks to lower costs and less time-consuming experiments. This review summarizes current knowledge of the comparative neuroanatomy of human and zebrafish motor systems. A comprehensive overview of current knowledge of human genes and factors involved in MNDs and the use of zebrafish in investigating the biology of human illness are also presented. The validity of the zebrafish model for acquiring knowledge of specific components of MNDs is also discussed.

2. Comparative neuroanatomy of human and zebrafish motor systems

Human motor systems are organized hierarchically in three levels of control: spinal cord, brainstem, and motor cortex. There is a clear division at each level of control between MNs innervating axial muscles and those innervating limb muscles. Zebrafish have at least twenty different neuronal populations in the brain projecting to the spinal cord, mostly located at the brainstem (Becker et al., 1997). However, an important difference between teleost fish species and mammals is that there are no direct telencephalic projections to the spinal cord. Whereas the corticospinal tract (CST) is seen as an adaptation for fine motor control of the limbs in mammals (Iwaniuk and Whishaw, 2000), the brainstem organization of neurons with descending axons is generally more highly conserved among other vertebrates (Goulding, 2009).

2.1. Spinal cord

The human motor nuclei in the spinal cord, the lowest level in the hierarchical organization, are arranged along a medial-lateral axis according to function. The ventral medial motor column (MMC) projects to the axial muscles in the neck and back, the hypaxial motor column projects to the hypaxial muscles in the ventral body wall, and the dorsal lateral motor columns (LMC) project to the limb muscles (Dasen and Jessell, 2009). This topographic map of the motor nuclei of the spinal cord, arranged in different motor columns innervating different groups of muscles is also present in other mammals, reptiles, and birds, but not in other vertebrates (Fetcho, 1992). Spinal LMNs, innervating muscles fibers, are highly diverse in terms of morphology, connectivity, and functional properties and differ significantly in their response to disease (Kanning et al., 2010). Alpha MNs (α -MNs) innervate extrafusal muscle fibers and drive in-muscle contraction. Gamma MNs (γ -MNs) innervate intrafusal muscle fibers of the muscle spindle and are involved in proprioception. α -MNs, the most abundant class of spinal MNs, can in turn be classified in three subtypes, according to the contractile properties of the motor units that they form with target muscle fibers: slow-twitch, fatigue resistant (S), fast-twitch, fatigue resistant (FR), and fast-twitch, fatigable (FF) (Burke et al., 1973). FF-subtype MNs have large cell bodies and large-diameter, fast-conducting axons, while the Ssubtype has the smallest cell bodies and axons. FF MNs seem to be the most sensitive to multiple degenerative disorders, including spinal muscular atrophy (SMA), amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS), and aging.

Zebrafish spinal MNs may be divided into primary and secondary classes, based on when they differentiate and innervate their target musculature (Eisen et al., 1986; Myers et al., 1986). Primary motor neurons (PMNs) are larger, appear during gastrulation, and undergo axogenesis during the first day of development (Lewis and Eisen, 2003). Three to four individual PMNs may be identified in each spinal hemisegment by their cellbody positions, axonal trajectories, and electrical membrane properties (Moreno and Ribera, 2009). Caudal primary motor neurons (CaP MNs) innervate the ventral trunk musculature, middle primary motor neurons (MiP MNs) innervate dorsal trunk musculature, and rostral primary motor neurons (RoP MNs) innervate muscle fibers in between. A fourth class, variable primary motor neurons (VaP MNs), typically undergoes apoptosis by 36 h post fertilization (hpf) (Eisen et al., 1990), innervating muscle fibers located between the territory of rostral and middle PMNs. In a recent paper, Menelaou and McLean (2012) analyzed motor unit properties and recruitment in larval zebrafish, finding two different types of RoP MNs: ventrally- and dorsally-projecting RoPs MNs. Although PMNs exhibit collaterals projecting off the main axons and ramify extensively throughout the deep musculature, some PMNs also present collaterals within the spinal cord (Menelaou and McLean, 2012). PMNs, located in the dorsal part of the motor column, have been classified by their electrical properties as the tonic class of zebrafish spinal MNs, with a high spike threshold, high-frequency tonic spiking, and limited spikefrequency adaptation in response to suprathreshold current injection (Menelaou and McLean, 2012). Secondary motor neurons (SMNs), located more ventrally in the motor column, are smaller, more numerous, appear later, and typically have thinner axons than PMNs. Menelaou and McLean (2012) also categorized SMNs according to the extent of their dorsoventral muscle innervation. Thus, the dorso-ventrally-projecting SMNs, the most dorsally located SMNs, exhibit an innervation field in both the dorsal and ventral musculatures, while the ventrally-projecting secondary motor neurons (vS), with the soma located immediately below the dorso-ventrally-projecting SMNs, have a ventrally-restricted arborization field. These two types of SMNs exhibit more extensive branching off the main axons deep in the muscle tissue, suggesting that they preferentially activate fast muscles. Finally, the dorsally projecting SMNs, with the soma located below the vS, exhibit an innervation field in the dorsal musculature, with the most extensive arborization in fast skeletal muscle. In addition, Menelaou and McLean (2012) demonstrated two additional classes of SMNs with a common anatomical feature: the presence of a major collateral axon running superficially along the intermyotomal boundary. When SMNs were classified on the basis of their electrophysiological properties, two subtypes were reported. On one hand, the chattering class of spinal MNs, with a lower spike threshold than the tonic class and a significant spike frequency adaptation during prolonged subthreshold current injection. On the other hand, the bursting class of spinal MNs, with a lower spike threshold, that produce slow membrane potential changes. Although there were no exclusive correspondences between these two electrophysiological classes of SMNs and any morphological classes of SMNs, bursting MNs tended to be more ventral than chattering MNs.

The somata of zebrafish PMNs and most SMNs are located in the spinal cord motor column. Moreover, MNs located in the ventral most region of the ventral horn innervate the paired fins, and in the case of the pectoral fin MNs their cell bodies are located in segments three through six (Myers, 1985; Thorsen and Hale, 2007). Such teleost fish appendicular MNs do no segregate into a lateral motor column, and abductor an adductor MNs are mingled within ventral MNs (Fig. 1) (Thorsen and Hale, 2007; Murakami and Tanaka, 2011). In fact, although fin MNs present some similarities with SMNs, as a similar size of the soma and thicknes of the axons, they represent a distinct class of spinal MNs (Myers, 1985). Thus, islet 1 is not expressed in the zebrafish pectoral fin MNs, but is expressed strongly in SMNs (Higashijima et al., 2000). PMNs have not been described in amniotes, thus human α -MNs may be more similar to SMNs (Beattie et al., 1997). No y-MNs have been described in zebrafish, which do not have intrafusal muscle fibers.

Axial motor structures formed the primitive motor apparatus of vertebrates, consisting of a rostro-caudal series of myomeres



Fig. 1. Schematic summary of the topography of trunk spinal motor neurons (MNs) and the muscles they innervate in a zebrafish larva. For the sake of simplicity, only the innervation of primary (PMNs) and secondary motor neurons (SMNs) on one side is shown. Upper graph is a lateral view at the spinal cord level with anterior part to the left and dorsal part to the top. At the trunk level, zebrafish larvae present a superficial monolayer of slow muscle fibers (red) and in deep portion of the myotome only fast muscle fibers are present (dark green). Larval pectoral fin musculature contains no slow fibers until approximately 7 mm body length. Fast muscle fibers of abductor and adductor muscles and endoskeletal disk of the fin are represented in dark green and blue, respectively. At the mid-trunk level, somata of the PMNs (bright green) are located at the dorsal most region of the motor column of the spinal cord. Axons from PMNs project only on fast muscle fibers (dark green). Somata of SMNs (blue) are smaller, more numerous and are located more ventral than those of PMNs. Axons from these MNs project both to the fast and the slow muscle fibers. Finally, at the pectoral fin level an additional pool of spinal MNs is present (red). These ventral MNs (VMNs) innervating the abductor and adductor muscles at the pectoral fin level have the somata at the most ventral region of the ventral horn. Axon of the Mauthner (M) cell running in the spinal cord is indicated in dark red.

(Fetcho, 1992). This myomeric musculature is also present in most anamniotic vertebrates, including zebrafish. The myomeric musculature in zebrafish is divided into two major types of muscle fibers. Slow fibers, forming a superficial monolayer on the surface of the myotome, are well-equipped for oxidative phosphorylation and more resistant to fatigue. Fast fibers, in the deep portion of the myotome, are more fatigable, as they rely on anaerobic glycolysis for ATP generation (Welsh et al., 2009). Each fast fiber is innervated by a single PMN and up to 4 SMNs, whereas each slow fiber is innervated by several SMNs (Westerfield et al., 1986). Therefore the two groups of fibers can be differentially controlled and perform different functions. Slow fibers are activated during slow sustained swimming, whereas fast fibers only become active during rapid swimming or escape movements (Fetcho, 1992). Electrophysiological evidence indicates that slow fibers are tonic fibers, homologous to the tonic fibers described in the mammalian extra-ocular muscle and are, therefore, not the homologs of mammalian slow twitch muscle, while fast fibers are a twitch-fiber type (Buss and Drapeau, 2002). Molecular and histochemical studies have not made this distinction, simply classifying fibers on the basis of the expression of slow or fast heavy chain myosin isoforms. One question that arises is whether it is appropriate to compare fast, *i.e.* twitch, and slow, *i.e.* tonic, muscle development in zebrafish with fast and slow twitch muscle development in mammals. Moreover, different subtypes of SMNs have been described in the juvenile/adult zebrafish motor column, related to the types of muscle fibers they innervate (Ampatzis et al., 2013; Gabriel et al., 2011). In spite to the above described differences, skeletal muscle fibers in zebrafish share many molecular and histological features with mammalian muscle fibers, including preservation of the components of the dystrophin-associated glycoprotein complex, the excitation-contraction coupling machinery and the contractile apparatus (Gibbs et al., 2013).

2.2. Brainstem

The human brainstem contains many groups of UMNs projecting to the spinal cord through two main systems: the medial and lateral brainstem pathways. These two descending pathways control different groups of spinal neurons and muscles. The ventromedial brainstem descending pathways, phylogenetically the oldest component of the human descending motor systems, consist of the reticulospinal, vestibulospinal, and tectospinal tracts. The fibers arising from the brainstem reticular formation, vestibular complex, and superior colliculus terminate bilaterally in the MMC of the spinal cord, projecting mainly onto interneurons and long propriospinal neurons, but also directly onto some spinal LMNs innervating epaxial muscles in the dorsal body region (Fig. 2A). The medial pathways provide the basic postural control system for head, neck, trunk, and proximal limb movements (Ghez and Krakauer, 2000; Lemon, 2008). The main dorsolateral brainstem descending pathway is the rubrospinal tract, originating in the magnocellular portion of the red nucleus in the midbrain. In humans and rats, the rubrospinal tract descends in the contralateral dorsal part of the spinal cord LMC, projecting onto interneurons controlling LMNs at the cervical level of the LMC (Fig. 3A and B). The lateral pathway is more concerned with controlling more distal limb segments: elbow and wrist (Lemon, 2008; Purves et al., 2001).

Sixteen distinct brainstem nuclei containing about 220 neurons in total, including the reticular formation and vestibular nuclei, as well as the nucleus of the medial longitudinal fascicle, have been found to project to the zebrafish spinal cord (Becker et al., 1997; Gahtan et al., 2002). In larval zebrafish, escape-related activity may be found in 82% of these neurons (Gahtan et al., 2002). The nucleus of the medial longitudinal fascicle contains the most rostral cluster



Fig. 2. Schematic representation of the ventromedial brainstem descending pathways in humans and zebrafish. For the sake of simplicity, only the brainstem nuclei and descending pathways on one side are shown. In humans, fibers (black lines) arising from the reticular formation (RF), vestibular nuclei (VN), and superior colliculus (SuC) form the reticulospinal, vestibulospinal, and tectospinal tracts, respectively. These fibers descend bilaterally in the ventral medial motor column (MMC) of the spinal cord, projecting mainly onto interneurons (IN), but also directly into some spinal motor neurons (MNs) innervating epaxial muscles of the dorsal body region. In zebrafish, fibers arising from the RF, VN, and nucleus of the medial longitudinal fascicle (MLF), running through the spinal cord as a prominent ventromedial fascicle (VMF). These fibers project at the spinal cord level mainly onto collateral or ipsilateral inhibitory and excitatory IN, as well as directly into some spinal MNs innervating the axial muscles. Although a tectobulbar tract is present (not shown) in zebrafish. no tectospinal tract has been detected.

of zebrafish brainstem neurons, sending ipsilateral projections to the spinal cord (Kimmel et al., 1982). Although a few rubrospinal projections have been found in zebrafish (Becker et al., 1997) (Fig. 3C), the presence of a true rubrospinal tract seems to be related to the presence of limbs or limb-like structures (Donkelaar, 1988). The octavolateral system in nonelectroreceptive teleosts is specialized for detecting auditory, vestibular, and lateral line stimuli. These mechanosensory stimuli are transduced by hair cells in the otolithic organs, i.e. the utricle, saccule, and lagena, semicircular canals, i.e. anterior, horizontal, and posterior, and lateral line systems (Tomchik and Lu, 2005). In adult zebrafish only neurons from octaval nuclei related to vestibular input, i.e. magnocellular octaval nucleus, tangential nucleus, anterior octaval nucleus, and ventrolateral part of descending octaval nucleus, send ipsilateral projections to the spinal cord, reminiscent of the vestibulospinal tract in mammals (Becker et al., 1997; Gahtan and O'Malley, 2003). The presence of a single vestibular nucleus in the young larvae should be noted (Kimmel et al., 1982). The zebrafish



Fig. 3. Comparison of the lateral descending pathways in humans (A), rats (B), and zebrafish (C). For the sake of simplicity, only the descending pathways on one side are shown. In humans, fibers from the lateral corticospinal tract (LCST) reach all the levels of the lateral motor column (LMC) of the spinal cord. Although most of these axons form excitatory synapses with spinal interneurons (IN), some of them project directly onto lower motor neurons (LMN) controlling distal limb muscles. These direct connections between corticospinal and spinal motor neurons are absent in rodents. Zebrafish do not have any direct telencephalic projections onto the spinal cord. Although the red nucleus (RN) is present in all three species, a true rubrospinal tract (RST) descending along the contralateral dorsal part of the spinal cord LMC to project onto spinal interneurons in C indicate that a few rubrospinal fibers project to the spinal cord in zebrafish, with no information currently available on the contralateral or ipsilateral position of these fibers.

optic tectum receives topographically ordered visual inputs from the retina and then sends motor outputs to the premotor reticulospinal system (Sato et al., 2007) and the nucleus of the medial longitudinal fascicle (NMLF) in the brainstem. Thus, it has been demonstrated that visual prey capture in larval zebrafish is controlled by neurons from the NMLF in series with the tectum (Gahtan et al., 2005). However, no direct tectospinal projections have been identified in bony fish by retrograde labeling (Sánchez-Camacho et al., 2001).

Brainstem reticulospinal neurons are phylogenetically conserved across vertebrates and form a major descending motor control system that receives convergent sensory inputs and sends motor commands to spinal circuitry (Kohashi and Oda, 2008). The zebrafish reticular formation, located in the hindbrain, extends longitudinally through most of the hindbrain tegmentum, from the pretrigeminal isthmic tegmentum to the caudal end of the medulla. This region is the largest source of descending signals to the spinal cord in zebrafish (Becker et al., 1997). There are about fifty hindbrain reticulospinal neurons on each side of the brain, although the best known are the Mauthner neuron and segmental homologs MiD2 and MiD3, which are involved in initiation and directional control over the fast escape behavior (Liu and Fetcho, 1999). In mammals it is believed that the Mauthner neurons and their serial homologs have been replaced by a population of 20-60 "giant neurons" in the caudal pontine reticular-formation in the brainstem (Becker and Becker, 2007). Most of the axons of reticulospinal neurons, both ipsilaterals and contralaterals, descend from the hindbrain along the medial longitudinal fascicle (MLF), running through the spinal cord as a prominent ventromedial fascicle (Metcalfe et al., 1986). Many of the axons running through the MLF show collaterals crossing into the contralateral spinal cord (Gahtan and O'Malley, 2003).

2.3. Motor cortex

The motor areas in the human cerebral cortex provide the ability to organize complex motor acts and execute fine precision movements. The motor cortex UMN axons, descending through the corticobulbar tract, modulate the activity of the cranial nerve (*e.g.* trigeminal, facial, and hypoglossal nuclei) LMNs in the brainstem

(Purves et al., 2001). On the other hand, axons of UMNs in the motor cortex, descending through the CST, modulate the activity of the spinal LMNs innervating the trunk and limb muscles, both directly and by modulating the activity of brainstem UMNs. The CST is a major descending pathway for controlling voluntary movements. The corticospinal fibers run together with corticobulbar fibers through the internal capsule to reach the ventral portion of the midbrain. Collaterals of the corticospinal axons reach some UMNs in the brainstem (e.g. reticular formation, red nucleus), thus modulating the brainstem descending pathways. In the medulla, they form the medullary pyramid and about 75% of the corticospinal fibers cross the midline in the pyramidal decussation at the junction of the medulla and spinal cord. The crossed axons descend via the spinal cord LMC, forming the lateral corticospinal tract (LCST) (Fig. 3), projecting to the cervical and lumbosacral spinal cord, to control the distal limb muscles of the hand and foot (Ghez and Krakauer, 2000). Most of the axons descending through the LCST form excitatory synapses with both excitatory and inhibitory interneurons. In contrast, a small number of cortical UMNs, with axons that pass through the LCST, form excitatory synapses directly on spinal LMNs (Fig. 3A). Most of these monosynaptic connections are with LMNs controlling the hand muscles, but the Betz cells have monosynaptic connections to LMNs controlling the lower limb musculature. Betz cells are large pyramidal cells located in the primate primary motor cortex. contributing approximately 3% of the one million axons in the CST and projecting directly onto spinal LMNs at the lumbosacral level (Patestas and Gartner, 2006). It is generally believed that, during evolution, the ability to perform dexterous hand movements developed in parallel to the establishment of these monosynaptic cortico-motoneuronal connections (Isa et al., 2007). The corticomotoneuronal system is well developed in humans and Old world monkeys and absent in non-primates (Lemon, 2008; Fig. 3B and C). Interestingly, the pathogenesis of HSP is characterized by distal degeneration of the LCST, primarily in the lumbar region (Deluca et al., 2004), with a significant decrease in the density of both small- and large-diameter axons. Indeed, the Betz cell axons, among the largest in the CNS, are the most affected in HSP.

The uncrossed axons descend *via* the ipsilateral ventral column of the spinal cord, forming the ventral corticospinal tract (VCST).

Table 1

Comparative neuroanatomy of human and zebrafish motor systems.

Feature	Key similarities	Key differences and unknowns
Motor Units		
Spinal motor neurons	\sim Zebrafish SMNs similar to human α -MNs.	\checkmark No γ-MNs present in zebrafish.
	Different subtypes of MNs, with some located at	PMNs have not been described in human.
	specific regions of the spinal cord, innervate axial and limbs/fins muscles.	Appendicular MNs in teleost fish do no segregate into a lateral motor column.
Skeletal muscle fibers	Preservation of the dystrophin- associated glycoprotein complex components.	It is still not well understood if it is appropriate to compare human and zebrafish fast and slow muscle
	Similar excitation-contraction coupling machinery.	fibers.
	🛩 Similar contractile apparatus.	Proprioceptors like the muscle spindle are not found in Zebrafish.
Brainstem		
Ventromedial brainstem descending pathway	Fibers from the reticular formation and vestibular nuclei descend from the hindbrain, projecting at the spinal cord level mainly onto interneurons, but also on spinal MNs.	Fibers from the optic tectum, zebrafish equivalent to the human superior colliculus, project on the nucleus of the medial longitudinal fasciculus and the premotor reticulospinal system, but a direct tectospinal tract has not been detected.
Dorsolateral brainstem descending pathway		Although a few rubrospinal fibers project to the spinal cord in zebrafish, a true rubrospinal tract is missing.
Motor cortex		
Corticospinal tract		There are no direct telencephalic projections to the spinal cord, <i>i.e.</i> corticospinal tract, in teleost.

Many of these axons contain commissural collaterals crossing into the contralateral MMC of the spinal cord. VCST axons project onto interneurons and LMNs in the cervical and lower thoracic spinal cord, modulating the movement of the neck, upper trunk, and proximal-forelimb shoulder muscles (Ghez and Krakauer, 2000).

The CST is a phylogenetically new system that first appeared in mammals and has developed predominantly in primates (Isa et al., 2007). Thus, there are no direct telencephalic projections to the spinal cord in teleosts (Becker and Becker, 2007) (Fig. 3C). Whereas the CST is seen as an adaptation in mammals for fine motor control of the limbs, the brainstem organization of neurons with descending axons is generally more highly conserved among vertebrates, as described above. The absence of corticospinal UMNs in zebrafish is an important feature to be considered when this model is proposed for studying UMN diseases such as HSP, which involves degeneration of the Betz cell axons. However, it is necessary to consider that cortical UMNs projecting directly onto LMNs at the lumbosacral level, specifically targeted in some human UMNs diseases, such as pure HSP, are absent from not only zebrafish, but also rodent models (Fig. 3B and C). The comparative neuroanatomy of human and zebrafish motor systems is summarized in Table 1.

3. Is the zebrafish relevant for understanding the biology of MNDs in humans?

3.1. The good

3.1.1. Genetic tools

The zebrafish model presents many methodological advantages and extensive collections of useful resources are available (reviewed in Bandmann and Burton, 2010; Rinkwitz et al., 2011; Seth et al., 2013) (zfin.org web site, Bradford et al., 2011). These include tools applicable *in vivo*, like whole-mount imaging, thanks to the optical transparency of zebrafish embryos and early larval stages, methodologies for modulating gene expression, behavioral tests to examine changes in motor activity, and simplified simultaneous chemical/drug testing on large number of animals (for recent reviews see Bandmann and Burton, 2010; Laird and Robberecht, 2011; Rinkwitz et al., 2011). The fully sequenced genome is available (Howe et al., 2013), together with molecular anatomical atlases and collections of transgenic lines expressing fluorescent proteins under neuron-specific promoters (Bradford et al., 2011; Flanagan-Steet et al., 2005; Higashijima et al., 2000; Naumann et al., 2010; Satou et al., 2013; Zelenchuk and Brusé, 2011). Numerous gene knockout lines and their short-term associated phenotypes (Kettleborough et al., 2013; Varshney and Burgess, 2013) are now complementary to antisense morpholino oligonucleotides (AMO) transitory knockdown and other genome editing methods (Schmid and Haass, 2013), like transcription activator-like effector nucleases, i.e. TALEN (Bedell et al., 2012; Sander et al., 2011; Zu et al., 2013), the CRISPR/Cas system (Hruscha et al., 2013; Hwang et al., 2013; Jao et al., 2013), and transgenic techniques for conditional gene activation or inactivation (Ni et al., 2012). These genetic manipulation techniques are used to investigate the function of a particular gene in the etiology of developmental and/or neurodegenerative MNDs. For example, it is possible to validate the effect of human mutations in zebrafish with function loss or gain methods, using wild-type (WT) or mutated human gene transcripts and knocking down the zebrafish ortholog using AMO (for details see Kabashi et al., 2010a; see Section 3.3 for comments on the genetic differences between these methodological approaches). However, the potential zebrafish ortholog target gene, if any, must, at least, be checked for sequence similarity, gene expression pattern, and synteny conservation between human and zebrafish. It should be noted that the teleost ancestor experienced a whole-genome duplication event at the base of the teleost radiation (Braasch and Postlethwait, 2012). A subsequent rapid gene loss occurred, with an average duplicate retention rate across all genes in teleost genomes estimated to be at 12-24% (Braasch and Postlethwait, 2012), but at variable rates according to the gene function considered (Schartl et al., 2013). Resulting ohnologs may have retained their initial subfunctions but also acquired new functions, i.e. neofunctionalization, and/or duplicated genes may be preserved by partitioning ancestral subfunctions between them, i.e. subfunctionalization (Postlethwait et al., 2004). The genetic interaction between duplicated genes must be taken in consideration, as recently illustrated with the ALS-associated tardbp genes (Hewamadduma et al., 2013; Schmid et al., 2013).

The functional relationship between an underlying human mutation and a disease may be tested experimentally, provided an ortholog with a conserved function has been identified in the model organism. The zebrafish model in its early developmental stages is very useful for establishing a causal link with highly penetrant mutations caused by loss of function mutations or complete knockdown of a gene's transcript. This would be applicable to genes involved in MN morphogenesis and, to a lesser extent, maintenance. Experiments using zebrafish in early developmental stages demonstrated the power of this model for studying important MN development regulators (Birely et al., 2005; Biswas et al., 2014; Feldner et al., 2005, 2007; Glinka et al., 2010: Hilario et al., 2009: Hutchinson and Eisen, 2006: Laird et al., 2010: Lotti et al., 2012: Morimura et al., 2013: Simpson et al., 2009: Campbell and Marlow, 2013: Tanaka et al., 2007: Schweitzer et al., 2005; Van Ryswyk et al., 2014), including differential subtype effects (Hutchinson et al., 2007; Pineda et al., 2006; Seredick et al., 2012). For example, KBP is a developmental protein involved in axon structure, outgrowth, and maintenance. Zebrafish kbp mutants exhibited impaired neurogenesis and early axonal differentiation, phenomena relevant to the cellular basis of Goldberg-Shprintzen syndrome (Alves et al., 2010; Lyons et al., 2008).

Mutations leading to systemic metabolic defects and/or the generation of proteins toxic to neurons that accumulate over time may lead to neurodegeneration and are likely to be involved in the development of late onset MNDs. The numerous gene knockout lines, generated *via* a knockout allele in every protein coding gene in the zebrafish genome (Dooley et al., 2013; Kettleborough et al., 2013), have the potential to explore long-term phenotypic effects, as recently demonstrated with adult siblings of *mfn2* mutants (Chapman et al., 2013).

Unlike mammals, zebrafish have the ability to regenerate their motor circuitry after spinal lesions (Becker and Becker, 2007; Reimer et al., 2008, 2013), have more extensive neurogenic areas in the adult brain (Kizil et al., 2012), and is permissive for regeneration (Fetcho, 2007; Gemberling et al., 2013). However, it is unable to repair MNDs induced by genetic or environmental factors, as demonstrated by numerous examples (see Section 5).

3.1.2. Behavioral genetics

In addition to the many genetic tools available, behavioral genetics are easily accessible in zebrafish. Its stereotyped movement patterns and tactile response abilities may be used to model some of the molecular, electrophysiological, and behavioral aspects of neural diseases (Kalueff et al., 2013; Norton and Bally-Cuif, 2010; Wolman and Granato, 2012). For example, larval complex behaviors are composed of simple behavioral modules that may be associated in a repertoire of stereotyped motor behaviors (Wolman and Granato, 2012). High-speed imaging, combined with software for tracking larval movements at millisecond resolution provides experimenter-independent, high-throughput screening for motor activity deficits (Burgess and Granato, 2007a,b; Fontaine et al., 2008; Mirat et al., 2013). For example, the expression of a human dominant-negative mutation of KCNC3, found in spinocerebellar ataxia type 13, reduced K⁺ current amplitude and CaP MN excitability and induced locomotor deficits in zebrafish (Issa et al., 2011). Physiological analyses particularly of the NMJ and cellular motor circuits are easily feasible in zebrafish and more difficult to approach in mouse spinal cord. The importance of behavioral assessment in MNDs was also demonstrated in smn mutants where larvae with motor axon defects had significant motor behavioral deficits (Hao et al., 2012, 2013).

3.1.3. Screening small molecules with toxic or therapeutic effects on neurons and motor neuron diseases

Zebrafish can be used for high-throughput small-molecule screening and identification of drugs and chemicals (Kaufman et al., 2009; Murphey and Zon, 2006; Rihel and Schier, 2012) able to induce MNDs or rescue an induced MND phenotype, at least in certain aspects of the disease. Whole organism, *in vivo* bioassays

may be performed, usually by waterborne exposure: a library of small molecules is arrayed in multiwell plates containing zebrafish embryos or larvae. It should be pointed out that using chemical libraries that already contain Food and Drug Administration/ European Medicines Agency-approved drugs facilitates the rapid translation of hits from zebrafish chemical screening to clinical trials (Tamplin et al., 2012).

The neurotoxic effect of some drugs, chemicals, and environmental toxicants on the development of zebrafish spinal MNs has been demonstrated. It is easy to analyze the effect of chemicals on spinal cord MN axonal sprouting and developmental patterns using transgenic lines with specific promoter-driven expression of fluorescent proteins or whole-mount immunodetection methods with PMN or SMN markers, and correlate them with motor behavior impairments. Fig. 4 summarizes several abnormalities in the stereotypic pattern of the spinal MN axonal projections in zebrafish larvae exposed to caffeine and sodium benzoate. Nicotine, cadmium, ethanol, metam-sodium, and chlorpyrifosoxon have also been reported to have neurotoxic effects on spinal MNs (Kanungo et al., 2011; Menelaou and Svoboda, 2009; Raldúa et al., 2012; Sylvain et al., 2010; Yang et al., 2011). Moreover, caffeine and sodium benzoate also induce different defects at neuromuscular junction (NMJ) level (Chen et al., 2008; Tsay et al., 2007). Zebrafish represent a suitable model for high-throughput screening of a library of chemicals to identify those that specifically impair LMNs. This identification is clearly useful, not only from the point of view of human risk assessment, but also for the potential development of toxic models of LMN diseases. Similarities in the axonal phenotypes after MND-related gene manipulations and those observed after exposure to some toxicants are striking and offer an opportunity for understanding how genetic factors interact with exposure to environmental toxicants and drugs.

Furthermore, one alternative to in vitro target-based drug discovery is research guided by phenotype in the context of a whole organism. Thus, animal models of a disease may be used as tools for therapeutic discovery, provided that they faithfully reproduce the disease in question. Phenotype-based approaches may be used to find compounds that modify the disease phenotype, regardless of the specific molecular targets. Zebrafish offer a vertebrate model well-suited to very large-scale, phenotype-based, small-molecule screening to identify chemical suppressors of disease phenotypes (Lieschke and Currie, 2007; Zon and Peterson, 2005). The first zebrafish screening for suppression of a disease phenotype was performed in an aortic coarctation model. The zebrafish mutation gridlock, affecting hey2, disrupts aortic blood flow in a physiological manner akin to aortic coarctation in humans (Peterson et al., 2004). Screening 5000 small molecules led to the identification of two structurally related compounds that completely reversed the gridlock phenotype and restored normal circulation. These compounds induced up-regulation of the expression of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and further experiments demonstrated that the activation of the VEGF pathway was sufficient to rescue the gridlock phenotype. This first study demonstrated the utility of zebrafish pharmacological screening for understanding disease processes and, potentially, discovering new therapies. Since the original gridlock screen, many human diseases have been modeled in zebrafish and screening has been performed to search for suppressors of the disease phenotypes (Lessman, 2011; Peal et al., 2010).

The development of zebrafish models for studying various MNDs, such as HSP, SMA, and ALS, opens up the possibility of using these models for phenotype-driven chemical genetic screens and finding chemical suppressors of genetic phenotypes. Axonotrophic compounds that significantly suppressed motor axon defects in a zebrafish model of SMA were identified after AMO-mediated reductions in SMN1 (Gassman et al., 2013; Wishart et al., 2014).



Fig. 4. Neurotoxic effect of caffeine and sodium benzoate on the development of spinal motor neurons in zebrafish. Whole-mount immunofluorescence detection was performed on 57 hpf zebrafish embryos after rearing in fish water (control, A, B) or fish water containing 0.77 mM caffeine (C, D) or 6.9 mM sodium benzoate (E, F) for 31 h. Images are lateral view at the trunk level with anterior part to the right and dorsal part to the top. Antibodies against synaptotagmin (znp1) (A, C, E) and neurolin (zn8) (B, D, F) were used to label the axons emerging from the spinal cord (sc) of primary (PMNs) and secondary motor neurons (SMNs), respectively. (A) In control embryos, rostral (RoP) (yellow arrow), middle (MiP) (white arrow), and caudal (CaP) (green arrow) MN axons innervated fast muscle fibers located in the middle, dorsal, and ventral region of the trunk, respectively. (B) Similarly, axons from rostral-like, middle-like, and caudal-like SMNs are indicated by yellow, white and green arrows, respectively. Moreover, at this developmental stage, some extensions of axonal branching were detected at the CaP and caudal-like SMN axon levels (white arrowheads). (C) Embryos treated with caffeine exhibited some CaP MN axons with abnormal morphology (asterisks) and decreased branching. Moreover, most of the axons of RoP and MiP MNs were absent. (D) Effect of caffeine on SMNs was consistent with the effects on PMNs, with abnormal morphology of the caudal-like SMN axons (asterisks). Embryos also exhibited a complete absence of rostral-like and middle-like SMN axons. (E) Embryos treated with sodium benzoate exhibited axonal CaP MN overbranching (white arrowhead). (F) An early truncation of rostral-and middle-like SMN axons was observed. Scale bar, 50 μm.

However, they had no effect on the survival of smn^{-l-} larvae (Gassman et al., 2013). Methylene blue and structurally related compounds can rescue ALS-like phenotypes associated with mutant TARDBP and FUS through reduction of the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress response (Vaccaro et al., 2012, 2013). Dorsomorphin, a small-molecule inhibitor of bone morphogenetic protein (BMP) type I receptors that inhibits BMP signaling, has

been shown to rescue *atl1* and *pnpla6* morphant phenotypes, including their spinal motor axon architecture (Fassier et al., 2010; Song et al., 2013). *Epha4* AMO knockdown, as well as the pharmacological inhibition of EPHA4, a receptor in the ephrin axonal repellent system, using 2,5-dimethylpyrrolyl benzoic acid, completely rescued a mutant SOD1-induced motor axonopathy in zebrafish (Van Hoecke et al., 2012). Similarly, genetic knockdown and pharmacological inhibition of Epha4 also attenuated the ALS-induced phenotype in rodents (Van Hoecke et al., 2012), demonstrating the similar mode of action of this modifying pathway on axonal degeneration.

3.2. The bad

AMO knockdown technology is still the most common technique for inhibiting the action of a specific gene or multiple genes simultaneously during zebrafish development, even if DNAbased knockout technologies are currently growing. Researchers must take into account the fact that AMO use has its own limitations. Inhibition is effective only during the first few days of development and potential undesirable off-target effects through p53 activation and neural apoptosis were observed (Bill et al., 2009; Eisen and Smith, 2008; Robu et al., 2007). Off-target mediated effects may have contributed to the observed MN phenotype in *tardbp* morphants (Hewamadduma et al., 2013; Schmid et al., 2013). Therefore, this approach may not be suitable for modeling late onset MNDs, except in cases where late physiological deterioration is only secondary to early-stage neurodevelopmental defects, as suggested in a mouse model of ALS (Martin et al., 2013a,b). In addition, transient AMO models could not be used in some studies such as survival where knockout genetics models are needed.

Another, frequently neglected, limitation is that loss or gain of function of a target gene may result in delayed development, trunk malformations, and decreases in body length and trunk height. Defects in MN abundance and axonal length and branching may not be due to a primary effect on the morphogenesis and maintenance of MNs but a subsequent indirect or side-effect leading to a delay in MN emergence. To cite one example among others, knockdown of the cytochrome c oxidase Vaa subunit using a specific cox5aa-AMO showed that, although PMN development was normal at 24 hpf, SMNs, the most similar to mammalian α -MNs, were severely impaired in number and morphogenesis at 48 hpf (Baden et al., 2007). However, the induced phenotype was associated with an embryonic malabsorption syndrome (EMS) (Raldúa et al., 2008), precluding the use of the earlier developmental stages to specifically address the direct effect of a cytochrome c oxidase deficiency at SMN level but an indirect effect may have been mediated via nutrient deprivation from the yolk sac. It is necessary to develop genetic models as a way to validate the quicker, but sometimes difficult to use, transient AMO models. As an example, the motor axon defects in the smn AMO model (McWhorter et al., 2003) were later recapitulated in a maternal:zygotic-smn mutant (Hao et al., 2013). This is an important result as it showed that this is not an off target effect or a secondary defect due to aberrant body morphology. The notion of secondary defects due to trunk malformations was also addressed directly in the context of SMA (McWhorter et al., 2008). Knockdown of gemin2 caused motor axon defects (Winkler et al., 2005). By performing blastula transplants between *gemin2* AMO treated and WT embryos, it was shown that when gemin2 is knocked down in MNs, they did not display motor axon defects and when WT MNs were transplanted into gemin2 morphants, they displayed defects. Thus, the motor axon defects seen in gemin2 AMO animals were due to defects in body morphology and trunk development.

3.3. The ugly

Human neurological disorders may be modeled in animals using standardized procedures that recreate specific pathogenic events and their behavioral outcomes, but only if there is an evolutionary conservation of the biological processes involved. Comparative neuroanatomy between zebrafish and human central and peripheral nervous systems revealed a similar overall organization, including cell types and neuron structure acquired from their last common ancestor, even if the CNS is considerably smaller in zebrafish than in humans. However, some structural differences must be taken into account when using the former as a model for the latter (Leung et al., 2013; Mueller and Wullimann, 2005; Panula et al., 2010; Rinkwitz et al., 2011; Ronneberger et al., 2012; Wilson et al., 2012; Wullimann et al., 1996). As previously pointed out (Section 2) (Table 1), a review of the comparative neuroanatomy of the human and zebrafish motor systems showed that, while the zebrafish represents a homologous model for LMN disorders, such as SMA, it is only a partial model for UMN disorders, due to the absence of corticospinal and rubrospinal tracts in the zebrafish CNS. However, the zebrafish was recently used as a relevant model of length-dependent axonopathy of the corticospinal MNs (Section 5), indicating that some deterioration in the intrinsic properties of MNs are prominent mechanisms underlying HSPs.

There will probably never be an animal model that is a perfect fit with the human condition. It was initially asserted that only non-human primate models were appropriate for testing pathophysiological hypotheses and evaluating new treatments, while other model species were only appropriate for the molecular and genetic exploration of disease mechanisms (Cenci et al., 2002). After over a decade of using zebrafish as a model for genetic disorders, it is now clear that this is not only an ideal model for visualizing development patterns and the associated diseases but also for studying the functional consequences of mutations of the human genes implicated in a broad range of degenerative disorders. However, most of the work published so far used AMO transient knockdown of target genes at early stages in development, rather than knockout lines and long-term phenotypic surveys. It is, therefore, difficult to detect potential direct or indirect interactions between developmental and neurodegeneration processes, e.g. EMS (see Section 3.2.), particularly in the context of late onset MNDs. An AMO model is not a genetic mutant and therefore the term "loss of function" used by some authors should be retained only for genetic mutants that have been verified as loss of function alleles. AMOs more closely resemble to haploinsufficiency which may not be modeled in homozygous mutants, which may be too severe, but rather in heterozygotes. The same precaution may be applied for "gain of function" used instead of RNA overexpression. In most neurodegenerative diseases, expression of neurotoxic proteins is a causative factor and the dominant toxic gain of function ideally requires a heterozygous model generated through a genome editing method. It should be also pointed out that some phenotypes elicited by AMO transient knockdown of target genes involved in neurodegeneration could not be observed in stable genetic knockout lines (Schmid and Haass, 2013).

Furthermore, the use of an animal model for identifying potential molecules to treat patients with diseases does not change the fact that there is a wide gap between discovering that a compound is truly effective on an animal model and its suitability for use in human patients. From this standpoint, the zebrafish model should be viewed as an easily accessible, inexpensive, experimental model for screening potential therapeutic molecules that must be validated by further studies in mammals.

4. Properties of human and zebrafish motor neurons and implications for their selective vulnerability to neurodegenerative diseases

Axon degeneration precedes and, sometimes, causes, neuron death in several disorders, including MNDs. Thus, the common pathological feature of HSPs is a progressive "dying-back" degeneration of the longest axons in the CST and posterior columns. Moreover, other MNDs, such as ALS and SMA, involve major synapse and axon losses before the appearance of symptoms, and long before the loss of neurons. For example, in animal models of ALS, axon loss may reach 60% before the onset of symptoms (Coleman and Ribchester, 2004; Fischer et al., 2004). Although axon degeneration is considered a potential therapeutic target for treating this group of neurodegenerative diseases, new approaches are needed to elucidate the underlying mechanisms. Animal models are very useful for replicating cellular correlates of MNDs such as protein aggregates, inclusions, subcellular defects and cell death rather than modeling pathophysiology or behavioral abnormalities that may be species specific.

Recent data indicate that axon degeneration mechanisms are more uniform than previously thought, even where cause and histopathology differ widely, as in the case of Wallerian degeneration and "dying-back" disease. Axons separated from their cell bodies by nerve transection undergo a program of axon death known as Wallerian degeneration. Understanding of the underlying mechanisms of axon degeneration has come mainly from studying the slow Wallerian degeneration mouse (C57BL/ Wld^{S}), a healthy mutant in which Wallerian degeneration is delayed tenfold. A chimeric *Wld^s* protein identified in this mutant strain inhibits not only Wallerian degeneration but also axon degeneration in several neurodegenerative diseases. For example, in crosses of *Wld^s* mice with progressive motor neuropathy mice and the model of Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease (CMT) myelin protein zero mutant, *Wld^s* significantly delayed dying-back axon degeneration, thus providing a mechanistic link to Wallerian degeneration (Coleman, 2005). Nevertheless, not all axon degeneration is delayed by *Wld^S*. An important exception includes mouse models of MNDs, such as SOD1 transgenic mouse models of ALS (Velde et al., 2004), the proteolipid protein null model of HSP (Edgar et al., 2004), and mouse models of SMA (Kariya et al., 2009).

Interestingly, an *in vivo* zebrafish model of axon degeneration has been proposed (Bhatt et al., 2004; Feng et al., 2010), based on axotomy of the Mauthner cell. The transparency of zebrafish embryos and larvae makes it possible to visualize the soma and axons of the Mauthner cells directly *in vivo*, by either back-filling or single-cell electroporation with fluorescent dyes. The long axon of this myelinated reticulospinal upper MN regenerates poorly after spinal lesion, so this model is relevant for studying both axon degeneration mechanisms and potential therapeutic targets for axonal regeneration. For instance, using this approach, it was found that cyclic AMP induced regeneration of zebrafish Mauthner cell axons *in vivo* (Bhatt et al., 2004). Moreover, it was recently demonstrated that, as in mice, overexpression of *Wld*^S in the Mauthner cells delayed axon degeneration in live zebrafish (Feng et al., 2010).

The characteristic hallmark of human MNDs is the progressive and highly selective loss of upper and/or lower MNs. But why are human MNs more susceptible than other neurons or cell types to some genetic disorders and toxins? Indeed, MN cells are continuously active, in order to maintain a particular posture or generate the complex discharge patterns required for locomotor movements. These large cells, considering the membrane surface, may have very long axons; indeed, some human UMNs have axons up to one meter long and axoplasm comprises >99% of total cell volume (Blackstone, 2012). This implies a high capacity for axonal transport maintenance, lipid homeostasis, mitochondrial respiration, and ionic gradients across the neuronal membrane, factors that may be very closely related. An expanding number of proteins have now been identified that mediate the shaping of the ER network and are involved in its interaction with the cytoskeleton and plasma membrane, as well as other dynamic cellular organelles, such as mitochondria (Goyal and Blackstone, 2013; Rowland and Voeltz, 2012). Some of these proteins are mutated in the most common forms of HSPs (Section 5), indicating that proper ER dynamics, specialization, and distribution are particularly important in large, highly polarized cells such as MNs (Goyal and Blackstone, 2013).

Another property of human MNs relevant for their selective degeneration in MNDs is their high vulnerability to disturbance of mitochondrial respiration (Cozzolino and Carri, 2012). Not only do mitochondria provide the main source of energy in the form of ATP, but they are also the center of the pathway that regulates apoptosis and calcium homeostasis. Thus, both *in vitro* and *in vivo*, inhibition of mitochondrial respiration induces selective MN degeneration. Moreover, the disturbance of mitochondrial respiration by glutamate, thus increasing their vulnerability to degeneration (Lewinski and Keller, 2005).

Although the precise mechanisms leading to selective degeneration of MNs are far from being understood, disruptions of glutamate transmission seem to be involved, together with the unique properties of human MNs, at least, in ALS and excitotoxic disorders of UMNs. These properties include weak buffering of cytosolic Ca²⁺, the presence of highly Ca²⁺-permeable α -amino-3hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid receptors (AMPAR). lacking the GluR2 unit, a high neurofilament content, and an exceptional vulnerability to mitochondrial function disruption (Lewinski and Keller, 2005; Weiss, 2011). First of all, disruption of intracellular Ca²⁺ homeostasis is thought to play a key role in MN degeneration. Thus, while Ca²⁺-binding proteins such as calbindin-D28k and parvalbumin are absent from human cortical and spinal MNs, selective targets for MNDs, other infrequently damaged MN populations express markedly higher levels of these Ca²⁺-binding proteins. Although no specific data on calbinding-D28k in zebrafish is available, this protein is expressed in both primary and secondary spinal MNs in various fish species (Denizot et al., 1988). However, in Carassius auratus, a teleost fish species phylogenetically closely related to zebrafish, calbinding-D28k (calb1) is not expressed by all the spinal MNs of a similar size and location (Denizot et al., 1988). Moreover, it has been demonstrated that Ca²⁺ signaling is involved in several of the key stages in zebrafish MN development, including differentiation and axogenesis (Ashworth et al., 2001). Thus, due to this specific role during development, the properties of Ca²⁺ buffering may be very different in embryos and adults.

Together with their low cytosolic Ca²⁺ buffering capacity, the second property of human MNs that may explain their particular vulnerability to increased stimulation by glutamate is the fact that they mainly express the highly Ca²⁺-permeable AMPAR, with low levels or total absence of the GluR2 subunits. Thus, the increased extracellular glutamate levels observed in some MNDs promote much larger increases in intracellular calcium in human MNs than in other types of neurons (Van Damme et al., 2002; Vandenberghe et al., 2000). Expression of gria2a and gria2b, zebrafish paralogous AMPAR GluR2 subunits, has been found in 72 hpf zebrafish in the area of the spinal cord where MNs are located (Hoppmann et al., 2008), although to the best of our knowledge no functional data are available on the calcium permeability of zebrafish spinal MNs. However, functional data support the presence of GluR2 subunits in zebrafish Mauthner cells between 33 and 48 hpf (Patten and Ali, 2007).

5. Symptoms of motor neuron degeneration disorders and the use of zebrafish models

5.1. Upper and lower motor neuron degeneration: amyotrophic lateral sclerosis

ALS, also known as Charcot's disease or Lou Gehrig's disease, is the most common form of MND, with an incidence rate varying from 0.3 to 2.5/100,000 (Sathasivam, 2010). The occurrence rate increases after the age of 40 years, peaks in the late 1960s and early 1970s, and declines rapidly thereafter (Logroscino et al., 2008). Death occurs in most patients within 2–5 years after diagnosis. Although the disease is mostly sporadic (s-ALS), 5–10% of cases appear to be familial (f-ALS) (Kiernan et al., 2011; Rowland and Shneider, 2001).

ALS is typically characterized by adult-onset degeneration of the UMNs and LMNs. Disease onset usually begins in the limbs, termed spinal onset, but about a quarter of ALS patients have bulbar onset with initial involvement of facial, mouth/jaw and tongue muscles, associated with poorer prognosis (Pratt et al., 2012). A hallmark of ALS is rapid progression, with subsequent spreading to involve other regions, and, over time, most patients will display both spinal and bulbar features, including emotionality, yawning, jaw jerking, tongue twitching, wasting, drooling, and difficulty swallowing. The diagnosis of ALS may be done by exclusion of other syndromes. The revised El Escorial World Federation of Neurology criteria are frequently used to established a diagnosis of ALS (Brooks et al., 2000) but some criticisms have led to Awaii-shima consensus recommendations, which are likely to increase the sensitivity of the criteria by the use of electrodiagnostic findings, without altering their specificity (de Carvalho et al., 2008).

The pathological hallmarks of ALS are the degeneration and loss of MNs with astrocytic gliosis. Intraneuronal inclusions are present in degenerating neurons and glia (Rowland and Shneider, 2001). TAR DNA-binding protein (TARDBP/TDP-43)-positive ubiquitinated cytoplasmic inclusions are observed in almost all cases of sporadic s-ALS and in most cases of f-ALS (Neumann et al., 2006). Fused-in-sarcoma (FUS)-positive inclusions have been identified in patients with ubiquitin-positive, TARDBP-negative with f-ALS caused by mutations in *FUS* (Vance et al., 2009).

The pathophysiological mechanisms underlying the development of ALS seem multifactorial and operate through interrelated molecular and genetic pathways (Kiernan et al., 2011; Robberecht and Philips, 2013). ALS may be an adult manifestation of a developmental disorder of the human motor system and various environmental risk factors have been suggested in s-ALS. Investigation into susceptibility genes involved in s-ALS has had little success to date. However, 15 genes and loci of major effects implicated in f-ALS have been identified in recent years (Table 2). Mutations in SOD1 coding for the soluble copper/zinc superoxide dismutase 1, TARDBP and FUS occur in 20% to 30% of f-ALS. Moreover, expanded GGGGCC (G4C2) hexanucleotide repeats have been very recently identified within intron 1 of C90RF72, revealing the major cause of f-ALS (23-47%) and a genetic cause, which may also be implicated in s-ALS (4-21%) (Millecamps et al., 2010, 2012). The pathogenic mechanism, loss or toxic gain of function, associated with hexanucleotide expansion in C9ORF72 is currently unknown but even the normal function of this evolutionarily conserved gene is elusive (Stepto et al., 2014).

There are now several studies using the zebrafish as an *in vivo* model for investigating the pathogenesis of ALS (Table 2). Knockdown of the zebrafish *c9orf72* ortholog induced axonopathy of the MNs and specific locomotor deficits, rescued by expressing human *C9ORF72* transcripts (Ciura et al., 2013). Pathologically expanded G4C2 RNA transcripts form intranuclear foci, sequester

\sim
h
v

Table 2

1 - :	~~~ ~ ~ :	merelined in	harmon A	IC determinione	here for a second as	and arrallable	multiplicate data	for modeling the		in ashasfish
viain	opines i	nvoiven m	niiman A	IN Deferminism	- nv rreanency	and available	nunusnea aata	inf modeling the	- narnonov	in zenransn
vicilii	Series 1	nivorveu m	mannan /	Lo determinioni,	, by nequency	, and available	published dutu	i for modeling the	pathology	III ZCDIUIISII

Gene	Sub-type (OMIM)	Locus	In	Onset	Pathophysiological mechanisms	Freq in f-ALS	Freq in s-ALS	Ze
C9ORF72	FTDALS (#105550)	9p21	AD	A	? (loss of the C9ORF72 encoded protein, RNA-mediated toxicity, toxic dipeptides from repeat-associated non-ATG translation)	20–50%	5–20%	1, 2
SOD1	ALS1 (#105400)	21q22	AD	А	Detoxification enzyme	10-20%	1-5%	3-10
TARDBP	ALS10 (#612069)	1p36	AD	Α	RNA binding and exon skipping	5-15%	1-2%	4, 5, 11–16
FUS	ALS6 (#608030)	16q12	AD, AR	А	RNA binding, exon skipping and DNA repair	5%	<1%	4, 14, 17
ANG	ALS9 (#611895)	14q11	AD	А	Neovascularization	2%	1%	NA
PFN1	ALS18 (#614808)	17p13	AD	А	Disruption of cytoskeletal pathways, axon outgrowth	1–2%	Ex.	NA
ALS2	ALS2 (#205100)	2q33	AR	J	GEF signaling	Ex	Ex	18
SETX	ALS4 (#602433)	9q34	AD	J	DNA and RNA metabolism	Ex	Ex	NA
VAPB	ALS8 (#608627)	20q13	AD	А	Vesicular trafficking	Ex	Ex	19
DCTN1	ALS (#105400)	2p13	AD	А	Axonal transport	Ex	Ex	NA
MAPT	ALS-FTD (#600274)	17q21	AD	Α	Microtubule assembly and stability	Ex	Ex	NA
VCP	ALS14 (#613954)	9p13	AD	А	Vesicle transport and fusion, degradation by the proteasome	Ex	Ex	NA
OPTN	ALS12 (#613435)	10p13	AD, AR	Α	NF-kB/ubiquitin regulation	Ex	Ex	NA
UBQLN2	ALS15 (#300857)	Xp11	XL	A	Ubiquitin-like protein family, degradation by the proteasome	Ex	Ex	NA

Abbreviations: A, adult; AD, autosomal dominant; AR, autosomal recessive; Ex, exceptional; Freq, frequency; In, inheritance; J, juvenile; NA, not available; XL, X-linked; Ze, Zebrafish bibliographic references: ¹Ciura et al., 2013; ²Lee et al., 2013; ³Da Costa et al., 2014; ⁴Kabashi et al., 2011b; ⁵Laird et al., 2010; ⁶Lemmens et al., 2007; ⁷McGown et al., 2013; ⁸Ramesh et al., 2010; ⁹Sakowski et al., 2012; ¹⁰Van Hoecke et al., 2012; ¹¹Kabashi et al., 2010b; ¹²Hewamadduma et al., 2013; ¹³Schmid et al., 2013; ¹⁴Vaccaro et al., 2012; ¹⁵Armstrong and Drapeau, 2013b; ¹⁶Vaccaro et al., 2013; ¹⁷Armstrong and Drapeau, 2013a; ¹⁸Gros-Louis et al., 2008; ¹⁹Kabashi et al., 2013.

specific RNA-binding proteins, and are potently neurotoxic in zebrafish embryos (Lee et al., 2013). As in mammals, mutations in zebrafish sod1 have been shown to cause MN loss (Lemmens et al., 2007). Microiniection of mRNA has been shown to cause transient overexpression of mutant SOD1 in developing zebrafish embryos and may confer a toxic-gain-of-function, with abnormal branching and shortening of MN axons (Lemmens et al., 2007; Sakowski et al., 2012). Transgenic zebrafish overexpressing mutant SOD1 displayed the hallmarks of ALS, including loss of MNs, muscle degeneration, loss of neuromuscular connectivity and defective motor performance, and increased stress in the MNs (McGown et al., 2013; Ramesh et al., 2010; Sakowski et al., 2012). A recent study where a mutant SOD1 protein was expressed at a physiological level demonstrated an early altered NMJ morphology, a susceptibility to oxidative stress, and an adult onset motor phenotype that recapitulated the key features of ALS (Da Costa et al., 2014). Epha4 was first shown to modulate sod1 severity in zebrafish, and then subsequently shown to correlate with predisposition in humans, emphasizing the usefulness of this zebrafish model. Epha4 AMO knockdown as well as the pharmacological inhibition of EPHA4 using 2,5-dimethylpyrrolyl benzoic acid completely rescued a mutant SOD1-induced motor axonopathy in zebrafish (Van Hoecke et al., 2012). In humans with ALS, EPHA4 expression inversely correlates with disease onset and survival, and loss of function mutations in EPHA4 are associated with long survival (Van Hoecke et al., 2012). Expression of mutant TARDBP, encoding TDP-43, a protein found in neuronal inclusion bodies in patients with ALS and frontotemporal dementia, or knockdown with an AMO, induced motor neuron axonopathy in zebrafish embryos (Kabashi et al., 2010b; Laird et al., 2010). Simultaneous overexpression of human WT TARDBP mRNA versus mRNAs carrying the mutations showed that the WT mRNA may rescue the phenotype, whereas the mutant mRNAs may not (Kabashi et al., 2010b). Expression of WT human TARDBP alone did not cause a phenotype at the levels used, e.g. to rescue knockdown. This is important because WT TARDBP induced a phenotype on its own in other models, *i.e.* worm, fly and mouse, but not in zebrafish, emphasizing the greater appropriateness of this model. However, a recent experiment using knockout loss-of-function tardbp stable mutants demonstrated no phenotype as a result of compensation

by the generation of a novel splice form of the duplicated *tardbpl* gene (Hewamadduma et al., 2013). Double-homozygous null mutants of tardbp and tardbpl had severe developmental abnormalities, including impaired spinal MN axon outgrowth (Schmid et al., 2013). If ALS is due to haploinsufficiency, then the AMO may model this better than compensation by *tardbpl* and complete loss of function of both genes. Progranulin, a neurotrophic factor, with mutations involved in frontotemporal lobar degeneration, is required for normal axonal outgrowth in zebrafish embryos. Knockdown of zebrafish progranulin genes induced MN axonopathy, prevented by overexpression of human GRN mRNA (Chitramuthu et al., 2010; Laird et al., 2010). Co-expression of human progranulin rescued the axonopathy induced by mutant TARDBP mRNA in zebrafish embryos, but had no effect on the mutant SOD1-induced phenotype (Laird et al., 2010). Similarly to TARDBP, FUS is an RNA binding protein which harbors aggregation-promoting domains (Li et al., 2013). Knockdown of zebrafish fus or overexpression of some human FUS alleles on their own yielded a motor phenotype that was rescued on co-expression of WT human FUS but not with ALS-related FUS mutations (Kabashi et al., 2011b). Knockdown and FUS RNA overexpression promoted abnormal NMJ structure and function (Armstrong and Drapeau, 2013a). WT human FUS rescued the tardbp knockdown phenotype, suggesting a common pathogenic pathway, while a lack of genetic interaction between FUS/TARDBP and SOD1 was demonstrated (Kabashi et al., 2011b). However, co-expression of mutant SOD1 and mutant FUS exacerbated the motor phenotype caused by overexpression of mutant SOD1 alone (Kabashi et al., 2011b). Pharmacologically enhanced calcium entry with calcium channel agonists prevents the NMJ phenotype induced by an ALS human TARDBP mutation in zebrafish larvae (Armstrong and Drapeau, 2013b). A few other zebrafish genes have been investigated for the contribution of their loss of function in ALS-related symptoms. Vapb knockdown led to swimming deficits and the phenotype was rescued by overexpression of WT human VAPB mRNA, but not by overexpression of a VAPB mutant (Kabashi et al., 2013). Disruption in RNA processing is an element in the pathophysiology of several MN disorders and neurodegenerative diseases. Variants of the RNA polymerase II component, ELP3, are associated with an increased risk in ALS patients and knockdown in zebrafish embryos resulted in motor axonal abnormalities, which may be disease related (Simpson et al., 2009). AMO-mediated knockdown of zebrafish *als2* induced severe developmental abnormalities, swimming deficits and abnormal MN projections (Gros-Louis et al., 2008) that may be related to the strongly induced EMS.

5.2. Upper motor neuron degeneration

5.2.1. Hereditary spastic paraplegias

HSPs, also known as familial Strümpell-Lorrain paraplegias, are a large group of heterogeneous inherited neurological disorders, characterized by progressive, usually severe, spasticity and pyramidal weakness, predominantly in the lower limbs (Depienne et al., 2007; Salinas et al., 2008; Stevanin et al., 2008).

The initial symptoms are usually stumbling and tripping due to a gait disturbance and stiffness in the legs (Stevanin et al., 2008). The disease is slowly progressive; most subjects display a markedly spastic gait and require a cane, walker, or wheelchair to move. Most patients share the same main features, including spastic gait, lower-limb hypertonia, hyperreflexia, extensorplantar responses, muscle weakness, and bladder dysfunction, sometimes associated with decreased sensitivity to vibration at the ankles, and pes cavus or scoliosis. When these signs are isolated, the disease is described as "pure" or "uncomplicated." In "complicated" or "complex" forms, additional neurological or extraneurological features are observed, including mental retardation, peripheral neuropathy, cerebellar ataxia, epilepsy, brain magnetic resonance imaging anomalies, optic atrophy, retinitis pigmentosa, deafness, and cataract (Table 3).

Very few neuropathological studies have been performed (Stevanin et al., 2008). They have revealed dying-back axonal degeneration preceding cell-body degeneration in the longest fibers of the corticospinal tracts and dorsal columns, sometimes associated with loss of cortical neurons and anterior horn cells (Behan and Maia, 1974; Deluca et al., 2004). The fibers innervating the lower extremities are the first to be affected, suggesting that axonal transport, intracellular trafficking, and/or the maintenance of long fibers are specifically impaired in HSP. This hypothesis was recently corroborated by the identification of genes involved in these functions, together with the analysis of animal models. Indeed, several causative genes (>50) are currently known and insight into the functions of the proteins they encode have suggested that, in most cases, intracellular trafficking is affected by the deterioration of the ER, Golgi apparatus, endosomes, or axonal transport (Table 2). In addition, myelination, mitochondrial function, lipid metabolism, protein folding, and axon guidance may also be disrupted (Depienne et al., 2007; Fink, 2013; Finsterer et al., 2012; Goizet et al., 2009, 2011; Stevanin et al., 2008).

The stretch reflex is a muscle contraction in response to stretching within the muscle. This spinal reflex involves a monosynaptic pathway providing automatic regulation of muscle length. Type Ia afferent fibers from muscle spindles of one muscle make excitatory connections not only with the α -MNs innervating the same muscle but also with those innervating the synergic muscles. Moreover, via type Ia inhibitory interneurons, type Ia afferent fibers inhibit antagonistic muscles. When a muscle is stretched, type Ia afferent neurons increase their firing rate, leading to the contraction of the same muscle and its synergics and the relaxation of the antagonist, in a reaction known as reciprocal innervation. Type Ia inhibitory interneurons involved in the stretch reflex also receive inputs from the collateral fibers of some axons of the corticospinal tracts, making direct excitatory connections with spinal α -MNs. In this way, type Ia inhibitory interneurons are used to coordinate muscle contraction during voluntary movements. Axons from some brainstem descending tracts also have excitatory and inhibitory connections to this interneuron. Thus, the stretch

reflex is mediated by multiple pathways acting in parallel *via* spinal and supraspinal pathways. Reflex responses mediated *via* supraspinal structures are known as "long-loop reflexes". While subcortical reflex pathways may be responsible for the afferent regulation of proximal muscle contractions, cortical projections may be of primary importance in modulating distal muscle contractions. Lesions in the supraspinal structures involved in long-loop reflexes may result in either hyperactivity or hypoactivity of the stretch reflexes.

The stretch reflex feedback loop provides the higher centers of the nervous system with a mechanism for adjusting muscle tone under different circumstances. Muscle tone disorders are frequently associated with lesions in the supraspinal descending pathways controlling the stretch reflex. Spasticity is a muscle tone disorder characterized by hyperactive tendon jerks and an increase in resistance to rapid muscle stretch. Partial denervation of the spinal neurons involved in the stretch reflex, inhibitory interneurons, and α - and γ -MNs leads to a gradual increase in sensitivity of these neurons. The synaptic contacts of UMNs are replaced by synapses with spinal cord neurons, resulting in a gradual increase in the influence of the reflexes on α -MN activity, reflected by the appearance of hyperreflexia. The increased influence of the muscle spindle results in massive contraction on stretching. Nevertheless, the muscle spindle response is mainly phasic, so when the muscle is stretched slowly or continuously, its activity decreases and the influence of the Golgi tendon organ becomes dominant, inhibiting the muscle contraction via the IIa inhibitory interneuron.

Key differences in human and zebrafish neuroanatomy of the cortical descending pathways preclude the use of zebrafish as a homologous model for UMN diseases, such as HSP. Nevertheless, zebrafish still represent a suitable partial model for a molecular and genetic dissection of the mechanisms involved in UMN disorders. Proprioceptors like the muscle spindle are not found in zebrafish myotomal muscle (Drapeau et al., 2002). Accordingly, the stretch reflex does not exist in zebrafish. The absence of both the corticospinal tract and stretch reflex preclude the possibility of reproducing the spasticity per se, the key diagnostic clinical finding of UMNs disorders in humans, in zebrafish. In fact, the spastic-like phenotypes described in some mutants (tnt, roc) or after treatment with strychnine are not really related to spasticity sensu stricto, but to other types of motor overactivity (Granato et al., 1996; Hirata et al., 2010). It is well established that strychnine induces motor overactivity by blocking the glycine function and a similar mechanism has been proposed for these two spastic-like mutants (Granato et al., 1996).

A functional analysis helps to demonstrate the causal relationship between defect and mutation. An identified HSP gene mutation in humans has been shown to induce pathogenic mechanisms in zebrafish, including MN axon defects, sometimes accompanied by locomotor impairment. Knockdown of atl1 (SPG3A, atlastin) caused an abnormal MN axon architecture, correlated with a decrease in larval mobility, and genetic or pharmacological inhibition of the BMP signaling pathway rescued the induced phenotype (Fassier et al., 2010). Knockdown of spast (SPG4, spastin) inhibited spinal MN axon outgrowth and reduced axonal microtubule networks, causing extensive CNS-specific apoptosis and motility defects (Wood et al., 2006; Allison et al., 2013). Axon outgrowth defects were exacerbated by immersion of spast-morphant embryos in embryo medium containing the microtubule-destabilizing drug nocodazole (Butler et al., 2010). Simultaneous knockdown of katna1, encoding katanin p60, also involved in microtubule dynamics, and spast, exacerbated defects in spinal MN axon outgrowth (Butler et al., 2010). Protrudin (ZFYVE27, zinc finger, FYVE domain containing 27) may interact with spastin to modulate neurite outgrowth, as suggested by the Table 3

Main genes involved in HSP determinism and available published data for modeling the pathology in zebrafish (for published data on other zebrafish HSP genes, see text).

Gene (protein)	Sub-type (OMIM)	Locus	Functional consequences	Frequency and/or number of families	Age at onset (years)	Type of spastic paraplegia and associated features	Ze
AD-HSP ATL1 (Atlastin-1)	SPG3A (182600)	14q22.1	GTPase, trafficking ER- Golgi, spastin and REEP1 partner	10% (39% in patients with early-onset)	Infancy (essentially <10 years)	Essentially pure HSP with rare peripheral neuropathy, incomplete penetrance	1
SPAST (Spastin)	SPG4 (182601)	2p22.3	Microtubule dynamics, endosomal trafficking, atlastin-1 and REEP1 partner	40% (12–18% in sporadic cases)	Variable	Essentially pure HSP with rare peripheral neuropathy or cognitive troubles, incomplete	2–5
<i>KIF5A</i> (kinesin 5A)	SPG10 (604187)	12q13.3	Axonal trafficking	2–3%	2–51	Pure or complicated HSP with peripheral neuropathy, parkinsonism	NA
BSCL2 (Seipin)	SPG17 (270685)	11q12.3	Protein located in the membrane of ER	Rare	Variable	Silver syndrome: distal amyotrophy of UL, allelic with CMT4D	NA
REEP1 (REEP1)	SPG31 (610250)	2p11.2	Protein located to mitochondria and ER chaperon, spastin and	2–6.5%	Variable	Pure +/- white matter hyperintensities, incomplete penetrance	NA
KIAA0196 (Strumpellin)	SPG8 (603563)	8q24.13	Atlastin-1 partner Protein is part of the WASH complex, acting at the interface between actin regulation and endosomal membrane dynamics	Rare	Adult	Pure with associated UL involvement	6
AR-HSP <i>CYP7B1</i> (CYP7B1)	SPG5 (270800)	8q12.3	Cholesterol et neurosteroid metabolism	7% (1–3% in sporadic cases)	1-40	Pure or complicated HSP with cerebellar ataxia, white matter	NA
<i>PGN</i> (Paraplegin)	SPG7 (607259)	16q24.3	Mitochondrial ATPase	8–21% (up to 7% in sporadic cases)	8–42	Pure or complicated HSP with peripheral neuropathy, optic atrophy, cerebellar atrophy+/- cerebellar	NA
KIAA1840 (Spatacsin)	SPG11 (604360)	15q21.1	Endosomal trafficking	21–26% (42–78% of HSP with TCC or ID)	1–30	ataxia Cognitive Tr or ID, peripheral neuropathy, RP (<i>Kjellin syndrome</i>), cerebellar ataxia, TCC and cerebellar atrophy, white matter hyperintensities,	7,8
ZFYVE26 (Spastizin)	SPG15 (270700)	14q24.1	Endosomal trafficking, mitochondrial dysfunction	2–5% (5–11% of HSP with TCC or ID)	4–19	Cognitive Tr or ID, peripheral neuropathy, RP (<i>Kjellin syndrome</i>), cerebellar ataxia, TCC and cerebellar atrophy, white matter hyperintensities	7
XL-HSP L1CAM	SPG1 (303350)	Xq28	Adhesin, neuritic growth,	Very rare	Infancy	Complicated HSP (MASA et	9
PLP1/proteolipid protein 1	SPG2 (312920)	Xq22.2	Myelin component	Very rare	1–18	CRASH synaromes) Pure or complicated HSP (allelic with Pelizaeus- Merzbacher disease)	10

Abbreviations: AD, autosomal dominant; ALS, amyotrophic lateral sclerosis; AR, autosomal recessive; CMT, Charcot-Marie-Tooth, MASA syndrome, Mental retardation, Aphasia, Shuffling gait, Adducted thumbs; CRASH syndrome, Corpus callosum hypoplasia, Retardation, Adducted thumbs, Spastic paraparesis, and Hydrocephalus; ER, endoplasmic reticulum; ID, intellectual deficiency; L1CAM, L1 cell adhesion molecule; NA, not available; REEP1, receptor expression-enhancing protein 1; RP, retinitis pigmentosa; TCC, thin corpus callosum; Tr, troubles; UL, upper limbs; Ze, Zebrafish bibliographic references: ¹Fassier et al., 2010; ²Allison et al., 2013; ³Butler et al., 2010; ⁴Wood et al., 2006; ⁵Zhang et al., 2012; ⁶Valdmanis et al., 2007; ⁷Martin et al., 2012; ⁸Southgate et al., 2010; ⁹Wolman et al., 2007; ¹⁰Brösamle, 2010.

rescue of double *spast*- and *zfyve27*-morphant embryos with coinjection of human WT spastin and protrudin (Zhang et al., 2012). Vacuolar protein sorting 37A (SPG53) is another protein involved in the endosomal sorting complex required for the transport system. A loss of motility was induced in *vps37a* knockdown AMOinjected zebrafish embryos without obvious dysmorphology, thus supporting the causal relationship between mutations in this gene and the spastic paraparesis described in patients (Zivony-Elboum et al., 2012). Knockdown of the zebrafish homolog of *KIAA0196* (SPG8, strumpellin) induced a curly-tail phenotype coupled with shorter motor axons. This phenotype was partially rescued by the human WT strumpellin but not the two mutants identified in HSP patients (Valdmanis et al., 2007). Similarly, AMO knockdown of *SLC33A1* (SPG42, solute carrier family 33 (acetyl-CoA transporter), member 1) in zebrafish embryos caused a curly-tail phenotype and defective axon outgrowth from the spinal cord. WT human

SLC33A1, but not a mutant form correlated with HSP, was able to rescue the morphant phenotype (Lin et al., 2008). However, the view that SLC33A1was equivalent to the SPG42 gene has been recently challenged (Huppke et al., 2012). The zebrafish is a powerful in vivo system for testing genetic interactions. Disruption of spg11 (SPG11, spatacsin) or zfyve26 (SPG15, spastizin) expression during zebrafish development induced a range of developmental defects, including locomotor impairment and abnormal architecture of spinal MN axons (Martin et al., 2012; Southgate et al., 2010). These two proteins are components of a multi-protein complex (Słabicki et al., 2010) and AMOs targeting the two genes at the same time suggested that they were involved in a pathway required for spinal MN axon outgrowth (Martin et al., 2012). However, an EMS (Raldúa et al., 2008) was apparently induced by changing the expression of these genes, thus making it difficult to interpret the phenotype, which may also be due to a developmental delay. Similarly, knockdown of slc16a2 (SPG22, solute carrier family 16, member 2), the functional ortholog of human MCT8 thyroid hormone transporter (Arjona et al., 2011), caused developmental and neurological impairment (Vatine et al., 2013). Disturbance of the lipid metabolism is emerging as a subset of HSP types (Tesson et al., 2012). Some of the normallooking gba2 morphant embryos (SPG46, glucosidase, beta (bile acid) 2) exhibited abnormal locomotion and outgrowth of spinal MNs (Martin et al., 2013a,b). Mutations of PNPLA6 (SPG39, patatinlike phospholipase domain containing 6) result in autosomal recessive HSP and this protein may also be one of the targets for distal damage to the longest axons induced by neuropathic organophosphorus compounds and chemical warfare agents (Glvnn, 2013). Knockdown of the zebrafish homolog induced a strong developmental phenotype associated with impairment of MN axon development and an increase in axonal truncation and branching (Song et al., 2013). This phenotype was rescued by the introduction of WT, but not mutant, human PNPLA6 mRNA. Knockdown modeling in zebrafish has been recently used for a functional validation of new candidate genes, e.g. ARL6IP1 (SPG61, ADP-ribosylation factor-like 6 interacting protein 1), PGAP1 (SPG67, Post-GPI attachment to protein 1), and USP8 (SPG59, Unbiquitin specific peptidase 8) identified by whole-exome sequencing of HSP documented consanguineous human families (Novarino et al., 2014).

5.2.2. Primary lateral sclerosis

Primary lateral sclerosis (PLS) [OMIM#611637] is a pure UMN syndrome, characterized by progressive UMN degeneration with limb and bulbar dysfunction, but no LMN features (Sathasivam, 2010). PLS is generally considered a rare presentation of ALS with pure UMN involvement (Kiernan et al., 2011). Whether PLS is a separate entity from the ALS variant, or simply a different manifestation of this MND, remains controversial.

Patients with PLS tend to present 5–10 years earlier than those with ALS, have less limb wasting and bulbar symptoms during the course of the disease, and survive 6–7 years longer (Gordon et al., 2006; Tartaglia et al., 2007). To date, no genetic causes have been associated with PLS and therefore no data are available on zebrafish.

5.3. Lower motor neuron degeneration

5.3.1. Spinal muscular atrophy

SMA is a clinically and genetically heterogeneous disease, characterized by the degeneration of α -MNs in the ventral horn of the spinal cord, leading to progressive atrophy of skeletal muscles and paralysis (D'Amico et al., 2011). The most frequent form is inherited as an autosomal recessive trait, resulting from mutations in *SMN1* encoding for survival of motor neuron 1 (Burghes and

Beattie, 2009; Lefebvre et al., 1995), and represents the second most common fatal autosomal recessive disorder after cystic fibrosis, with an incidence of 1/6000-1/10,000 live births (D'Amico et al., 2011). In fact, the term "SMA" is now reserved for SMN1related SMA, all other forms being exceptional. Severe generalized muscle weakness and atrophy, predominantly in proximal limb muscles, are the hallmark of the disease. The phenotype is classified into four grades of severity (SMA types 1, 2, 3, and 4). based on age of onset and motor function achieved (D'Amico et al., 2011; Zerres et al., 1997). SMA type 1 (Werdnig-Hoffmann disease) [OMIM#253300] is the earliest, most severe, and most common type. Onset is before 6 months of age: patients never sit up and generally do not survive beyond the first 2 years. SMA type 2 (intermediate form) [OMIM#253550] is characterized by onset between 7 and 18 months. Patients do not achieve the ability to walk independently and the course of the disease is severe. Patients with SMA type 3 (mild, Kugelberg-Welander disease) [OMIM#253400] display highly variable severity of the disease, with an age of onset after 18 months. Proximal muscular weakness occurs during infancy. Some patients require wheelchair assistance while others continue to walk in adulthood with only minor muscular weakness. SMA type 4 has been added to this classification to describe with adult onset and mild course, without any risk of respiratory and nutritional troubles. All types of SMA are caused by homozygous deletion or mutation of SMN1 (Hamilton and Gillingwater, 2013). In humans, there are two survivals of motor neuron genes: telomeric SMN1 and its centromeric homolog SMN2, caused by the intrachromosomal duplication of 5q13. A single C to T substitution at base pair position 840 in SMN2 compared to SMN1 results in the exclusion of exon 7 from approximately 85–90% of SMN2 transcripts. About 95% of patients have a homozygous disruption of SMN1 due to deletion or gene conversion of SMN1 to SMN2 (Feldkotter et al., 2002). About 3% of affected individuals are compound heterozygotes for deletion of one SMN1 allele and intragenic mutations. Loss of SMN1 is essential to the pathogenesis of SMA, while the severity of the disease is primarily related to the number of copies of SMN2.

Non-SMN1 or non-5q SMA (or SMA plus phenotypes) have progressively become increasingly important (Guillot et al., 2008). Some have been accepted as separate entities definitely not linked to chromosome 5q markers (Zerres and Rudnik-Schoneborn, 2003). Among them, spinal muscular atrophy with respiratory distress (SMARD 1) [OMIM#604320] is a very rare autosomal recessive disorder. The onset is very early, characterized by initial respiratory insufficiency due to diaphragmatic palsy, symmetrical distal muscular weakness, muscle atrophy, peripheral sensory neuropathy, and autonomic nerve dysfunction (Grohmann et al., 2003; Kaindl et al., 2008). The prognosis is poor with early death. Survival up to a few years has been reported only with assisted ventilation. The causative gene, IGHMBP2, encodes immunoglobulin u-binding protein 2. located on chromosome 11g13 (Grohmann et al., 2001). Lethal congenital contracture syndrome 1 (LCCS1) [OMIM#253310] is an exceptional autosomal recessive condition with prenatal onset, leading to total immobility of the fetus, accompanied by hydrops, micrognatia, pulmonary hypoplasia, pterygia, and arthrogryposis (Makela-Bengs et al., 1998). It invariably leads to prenatal death before the 32nd gestational week. Neuropathological analysis reveals a lack of anterior horn motoneurons, severe atrophy of the ventral spinal cord, and hypoplastic, almost absent skeletal muscles (Herva et al., 1988). A milder phenotype, lethal arthrogryposis with anterior horn cell disease (LAAHD), is characterized by fetal akinesia, arthrogryposis, and MN loss, leading to early death following respiratory failure after the delivery (Nousiainen et al., 2008). Neuropathological findings in LAAHD resemble those of LCCS1, but are less severe. Mutations in the GLE1 RNA export mediator are the cause of these two allelic conditions (Nousiainen et al., 2008). Spinal muscular atrophy with progressive myoclonic epilepsy (SMA-PME) [OMIM#159950] is also extremely rare (Haliloglu et al., 2002; Jankovic and Rivera, 1979). Affected patients display severe, progressive myoclonic epilepsy and LMN disease, proven by electrophysiological and muscle-biopsy findings. The course of the disease is severe, leading to respiratory muscle involvement and severe handicap or death before 20 years of age. Mutations in the ASAH1 gene have very recently been demonstrated to cause SMA-PME (Zhou et al., 2012). Mutations of the same gene are responsible for Farber disease, a very rare autosomal recessive condition resulting from a marked reduction in lysosomal acidceramidase activity (under 10%) or its total absence. Farber disease is characterized by early onset subcutaneous lipogranulomata, joint pain, and hoarseness of the voice. A higher residual acidceramidase activity might be responsible for SMA-PME. It should be pointed out that the distinction between developmental and degenerative conditions is becoming less and less clear in neurological conditions. Indeed SMA type 1, SMARD1, LCCS1, and SMA-PME have very early, sometimes prenatal, onset and are clearly related to an MN development disorder, but these abnormally developed MNs will ultimately degenerate. These clinical conditions are now included by all authors in MNDs.

PCH1 [OMIM#614678] is a distinctive subtype of pontocerebellar hypoplasia (PCH) only diagnosed in 13 unrelated families from around the world, characterized by congenital onset of diffuse muscle wasting secondary to spinal cord anterior horn cell loss and cerebellar hypoplasia (Wan et al., 2012). Neurogenic muscle atrophy with spinal motor neuron disease has been confirmed by electromyography, muscle biopsy, or autopsy. Exome sequencing has identified recessive mutations in *EXOSC3*, coding for exosome component 3, highlighting the implication of RNA processing dysregulation in the abnormal development and degeneration of cerebellar and spinal motor neurons (Wan et al., 2012).

Autosomal dominant SMA (AD-SMA), also known as dominant congenital SMA (DCSMA) or autosomal dominant lower extremitypredominant spinal muscular atrophy-2 (SMALED2) [OMIM#615290], is a very rare disorder of developing anterior horn cells, characterized by congenital onset with predominantly proximal lower-limb features and very slow progression throughout life (Peeters et al., 2013). Clinical overlaps with HSP and DCSMA with upper motor neuron have been highlighted in the 8 affected families reported to date (Oates et al., 2013; Neveling et al., 2013). In these families, heterozygous dominant mutations have been identified in BICD2, encoding bicaudal D homolog 2 (Drosophila), a key adaptor protein that interacts with the dynein-dynactin motor complex, which facilitates the intercellular trafficking critical to motor neuron development and maintenance (Oates et al., 2013).

SMA and other lower MNDs are clinically characterized by muscle atrophy and muscle weakness, probably resulting from skeletal muscle denervation (Nicole et al., 2002). Denervation, defined as an NMJ unoccupied by α -MNs, is common in lower MNDs. Thus, after a short presymptomatic period, mutant mice with an intermediate phenotype began to have difficulty ambulating and righting themselves. Histological analysis of skeletal muscle at 2 weeks revealed atrophy, with denervated neuromuscular junctions and reduced acetylcholine receptor (AChR) clusters (Lee et al., 2013). The extent of denervation generally correlates with the degree of severity in mouse SMA models (Kariya et al., 2008).

Zebrafish has been used as a vertebrate model of SMA by using AMO to reduce the survival of motor neuron protein levels or generating *smn* (*smn1*) mutants, although *smn* AMO exhibited defects in spinal LMN axon outgrowth and pathfinding (Carrel et al., 2006; McWhorter et al., 2003; Oprea et al., 2008; Winkler

et al., 2005). The zebrafish phenotype was rescued by full length human SMN but not the mutated version (Carrel et al., 2006). When zebrafish *smn* morphant NMJs were analyzed at 3 dpf, both normal and aberrant axons colocalized with AChR clusters, suggesting that although smn AMO did not have the stereotyped pattern of innervations, the muscle fibers were innervated by axons (McWhorter et al., 2003). Similarly, the presynaptic marker synaptic vesicle protein 2 (SV2) colocalized with AChR clusters and no NMI defects were observed in 9 dpf *smn* mutants with reduced levels of survival motor neuron protein (Boon et al., 2009). However, in 11 dpf smn mutants, a marked decrease in SV2 was found at the NMJ. Interestingly, other presynaptic markers, such as synaptotagmin II and synaptophysin, were unaffected (Boon et al., 2009). Decreased size and low activity has been described in these smn mutants. When mutants were generated lacking both maternal and zygotic SMN there was very low levels of SMM protein and the mutants display motor axon defects (Hao et al., 2013). This maternal:zygotic-*smm* zebrafish mutant has low levels of SMN due to the leaky heat shock promoter driving human SMN and thus is a true, severe genetic model of SMA. Conditional transgenesis revealed that SMN protein was needed during the whole MN morphogenesis process and to rescue motor axon defects and motor deficits on a zebrafish null smn mutant background (Hao et al., 2013). This suggests that an early developmental defect in MNs through a low level of SMN may have a long-term deleterious effect on connectivity and movement. A depressed actin-binding and bundling protein, plastin 3 (PLS3), level has also been found in *smn* mutants and this protein was able to rescue axon growth defects associated with low SMN in zebrafish (Hao et al., 2012; Oprea et al., 2008). This protein acts as a protective modifier of SMA in improving axon outgrowth, counteracting poor axonal connectivity at SMA NMJs (Ackermann et al., 2013; Oprea et al., 2008) through is Ca²⁺ binding residues (Lyon et al., 2014). Consequently, zebrafish represent a suitable model for finding SMN1 interacting partners able to modulate an SMN1-deficiency phenotype (Akten et al., 2011; Lotti et al., 2012). As it has been demonstrated that transgenic zebrafish expressing human SMN2 rescued the neuromuscular presynaptic SV2 defect in smm mutants and increased their survival (Hao et al., 2011), a genetic model of SMA has been implemented in zebrafish. Novel candidate genes implicated in SMA phenotype have been identified in transcriptome analyses of SMN deficient zebrafish (See et al., 2014). Whole embryos rather than isolated motor neurons were used in this approach to take into consideration transcripts expressed in non-MN cell types potentially able to mediate non-cell autonomous effects. Neurexin2a was identified as a strongly down-regulated gene and the knockdown of *nrxn2a* resulted in motor CaP MN axon truncations and branching defects and phenocopies of SMN defects, including reduced motor axon excitability (See et al., 2014). The partial rescue of SMN morphants by nrxn2ab mRNA injection strongly suggested that nrxn2a acted as a downstream SMN mediator. Chondrolectin is a gene identified in a splicing array to be decreased in mouse SMN mutants and knockdown and overexpression in zebrafish embryos indicated a role in MNs axon maintenance as well as pathfinding (Zhong et al., 2012). MN axon defects caused by smn AMO can be rescued by chodl overexpression supporting chondrolectin as an in vivo genetic modifier of the SMA phenotype (Sleigh et al., 2014). The involvement of ubiquitin homeostasis and β -catenin signaling has been also explored by using a zebrafish model of SMA (Wishart et al., 2014).

Although muscle atrophy, measured as a decrease in muscle fiber size, is an easy endpoint to analyze in zebrafish (Cao et al., 2009; Hanai et al., 2007), to the best of our knowledge, no information is currently available on muscle atrophy in zebrafish models of SMA. Therefore, zebrafish is a very useful homologous model for LMN diseases, although additional efforts should be made to analyze the clinical features of this group of diseases, muscle atrophy and weakness.

It should be pointed out that the zebrafish has been used as a functional validation test for deciphering the effect of rare human variants associated with LMN diseases. GLE1 depletion in zebrafish embryos induced an LCCS1-like phenotype and apoptosis of neural precursors leading to defective spinal MNs (Jao et al., 2012). AMO knockdown of *asah1b*, a homolog of human *ASAH1* associated with SMA-PME, led to a marked loss of MN axonal branching and a concomitant increase in apoptosis in the spinal cord (Zhou et al., 2012). AMO knockdown of *exosc3* in zebrafish embryos caused general embryo maldevelopment similar to EMS, resulting in small brain size and poor motility, reminiscent of some human clinical features of PCH1, and these defects were largely rescued by co-injection with human WT but not mutant *exosc3* mRNA (Wan et al., 2012).

5.3.2. Distal hereditary motor neuropathy, spinal Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease, or distal spinal muscular atrophy

Distal hereditary motor neuropathy (dHMN), also referred to as distal SMA or spinal CMT, represents a group of clinically and genetically heterogeneous diseases caused by degeneration of spinal motor neurons (Devic et al., 2012; Rossor et al., 2012). Spinal CMT is defined by a slowly progressive, symmetrical, predominantly distal lower motor neuron phenotype. Electroneuromyograms reveal pure motor neuropathy. Many forms of dHMN have minor sensory abnormalities and/or a significant upper-motorneuron component, and there is often an overlap with the dominant axonal forms of CMT (CMT2), juvenile forms of ALS, and HSP. Eleven causative genes and four loci have been identified with autosomal dominant, recessive, and X-linked inheritance patterns (Table 4). The encoded proteins are implicated in protein misfolding, axonal transport, RNA metabolism, cation-channel function, and mitochondrial network maintenance mechanisms that overlap with other MND.

Modeling CMT2 in zebrafish by inducing mutations in *LRSAM1* produced a modified phenotype of *lrsm1* morphants associated with abnormal MN development (Weterman et al., 2012). Homozygous deletions of *Mfn2* in mice cause placental abnormalities and embryo death (Chen et al., 2003), thus precluding the use of this animal as a model for CMT2A2. AMO targeting a splice site of zebrafish *mfn2* showed severe, early developmental effects, including truncated MNs, fewer NMJs, and abnormal muscle fibers (Vettori et al., 2011). In contrast, *mfn2* null allele embryos initially appeared healthy but exhibited a progressive loss of motor function with defective axonal transport of mitochondria and alterations at the NMJ level (Chapman et al., 2013).

5.3.3. Spinal and bulbar muscular atrophy

Spinal and bulbar muscular atrophy (SBMA) [OMIM#313200], or Kennedy's disease, is an adult-onset disorder affecting both muscle and LMNs (Kennedy et al., 1968). Patients present amyotrophic, proximal or distal weakness and wasting of the facial, bulbar and limb muscles, as well as occasional sensory disruptions, associated with endocrine disturbances, including androgen resistance, gynecomastia, elevated testosterone or progesterone, and reduced fertility (Finsterer, 2009; Kennedy et al., 1968). The course is slowly progressive; the ability to walk lost only late in life; only few patients require ventilator support, and life expectancy is only slightly reduced. SBMA is an X-linked recessive polyglutamine disorder caused by expansion of a polymorphic CAG tandem-repeat in exon 1 of the androgen-receptor gene (La Spada et al., 1991). The cardinal histopathology findings are loss of anterior horn cells in the brain stem and spinal cord.

5.3.4. Other motor neuron syndromes

The Brown-Vialetto-Van Laere (BVVL) [OMIM#614707] and Fazio-Londe syndromes (FL) [OMIM#211500] are very rare motor neuron disorders with clinical overlap, as they share bulbar palsy and respiratory insufficiency (Bosch et al., 2012; Ciccolella et al., 2012). In BVVL, a sensorineural deafness is observed in addition to

Table 4

Main genes involved in dHMN o	determinism and available published data	a for modeling the pathology in zebrafish.
-------------------------------	--	--

Gene	Locus	OMIM	Disease	Phenotype	In	Ze
HSPB1 HSPB8 GARS DYNC1H1	7q11.23 12q24 7p15 14q32	*602195 *608014 *600287 *600112	dHMN type I	Childhood or juvenile onset of distal LL wasting and weakness	AD	NA NA NA 1
HSPB1 HSPB8 BSCL2 HSPB3	7q11.23 12q24 11q13 5q11	*602195 *608014 *606158 *604624	dHMN type II	Adult onset of distal LL wasting and weakness	AD	NA NA NA NA
?	11q13		dHMN type III	Adult onset of distal LL wasting and weakness	AR	
?	11q13		dHMN type IV	Adult onset of distal LL wasting and weakness	AR	
GARS BSCL2	7p15 11q13	*600287 *606158	dHMN type V	UL onset	AD	NA NA
IGHMBP2	11q13	*600502	dHMN type VI	Infantile onset of distal wasting and weakness and respiratory failure	AR	NA
DCTN1 TRPV4	2p13 12q24	*601143 *605427	dHMN type VII	Adult onset of distal wasting and weakness and vocal-cord paralysis	AD	2 3
ATP7A	Xq12	*300011	X-linked dHMN	Variable onset of distal LL wasting and weakness	XL	NA
SETX BSCL2	9q34 11q13	*608465 *606158	dHMN and pyramidal features	Distal LL wasting and weakness and pyramidal features	AD	NA NA
TRPV4	12q24	*605427	Congenital dHMN	Distal weakness at birth and arthrogryphosis	AD	3

Abbreviations: AD, autosomal dominant; AR, autosomal recessive; In, inheritance; LL, lower limbs; NA, not available; UL, upper limbs; XL, X-linked. Ze, Zebrafish bibliographic references: ¹Langworthy and Appel, 2012; ²Del Bene et al., 2008; ³Amato et al., 2012.

other features, but BVVL and FL are considered as the same entities. The age at onset is highly variable, ranging from infancy to adulthood. Classically, a sensorineural hearing loss is the sign at onset in BVVL, followed by other lower cranial nerve involvement and lower motor neuron symptoms in the limbs (Spagnoli and De Sousa, 2012). Upper motor neuron symptoms are less frequently described. In FL, earlier onset is generally associated a more rapidly progressive course, leading to respiratory distress, and weakness in the face and all four limbs, but mainly the upper limbs. BVVL and FL are caused by riboflavin deficiency secondary to mutations in one of the following three genes: *SLC52A3*, *SLC52A2* and *SLC52A1*, each them coding for a riboflavin transporter. Oral riboflavin supplementation seems to stabilize and improve progression of the disease.

Triple A syndrome (3A syndrome or Allgrove syndrome) [OMIM#231550], is a rare autosomal recessive disorder characterized by adrenocorticotropic hormone resistant adrenal deficiency, achalasia of the esophageal cardia, and alacrimia (Allgrove et al., 1978). Autonomic and neurological dysfunction, including UMNs and LMNs involvement, frequently complete the clinical spectrum (Goizet et al., 2002; Houlden et al., 2002; Messina et al., 2009). 3A syndrome is caused by mutations in AAAS gene coding for ALADIN, a ubiquitous protein containing four WD repeats, aimed to form a typical β -propeller structure (Tullio-Pelet et al., 2000). WD repeats typically occur multiple times within a protein. These domains are involved in protein-protein interactions that may act in signal transduction, intracellular trafficking, cytoskeleton assembly, transcription, and cell division control (Smith et al., 1999). There are currently no data on modeling SBMA, BVVL, FL, and 3A syndrome in zebrafish but this animal may be used to dissect the molecular mechanisms involved.

6. Some future prospects

Recent technological advances and intrinsic qualities of the zebrafish, e.g. rapid, external development and optical observation both early and late organogenesis stages, using adult transparent casper or pinky lines (Hsu et al., 2013; White et al., 2008), make this experimental model of major significance for biomedical research in general and MNDs in particular. Techniques including labeling different cell types and distinct subcellular compartments in live fluorescent transgenic reporters, the use of in vivo two-photon microscopy, laser ablation, Ca²⁺ imaging, and patch clamp electrophysiology, even in the embryonic and larval stages, has made it possible to characterize the in vivo dynamics of processes in neurons and neural networks and early neurological changes in diseases. For example, the transgenic mitofish line has made it possible to study in vivo mitochondrial distribution and transport in Rohon-Beard sensory neurons, as well as some induced defects in a tauopathy model (Plucińska et al., 2012). This approach may be combined with vital dyes for cellular, subcellular, and functional imaging (Romanelli et al., 2013). New in vivo non-invasive technologies, including conditional transgenesis (Hans et al., 2011) and optogenetics (Arrenberg and Driever, 2013; McLean and Fetcho, 2011) are emerging for monitoring the temporal requirements of MN development and survival, as well as motor neuron activities. This has recently been demonstrated in the case of the requirement of SMN1 for proper MN morphology in embryonic stages with long-term effects (Hao et al., 2013) and to identify brain (Ahrens et al., 2013; Sumbre and Poo, 2013) and spinal cord (Fajardo et al., 2013; Fidelin and Wyart, 2014; Kimura et al., 2013; Wyart et al., 2009) neurons critically involved in locomotor drive. These approaches may be used for in vivo imaging and monitoring the dynamics of the appearance of neurodegenerative disease-related biological processes.

Zebrafish have a very interesting potential for testing whether mutations that represent risk factors with low penetrance and/or that generate compounds toxic to neurons and accumulate over time may cause MNDs to be more deleterious with additional genetic variants and/or combine with environmental factors that enhance the risk. The knockdown of *epha4* or its pharmacological inhibition using 2,5-dimethylpyrrolyl benzoic acid rescued the axonopathy induced by mutant SOD1 and TARDBP expression, as well as the motor axon phenotype induced by knockdown of smm1 (Van Hoecke et al., 2012). The excitotoxic effects of calcium are well described for late stages of ALS manifestation, *i.e.* leading to cell death, but the opposite may be true at earlier, pre-clinical stages which are the most important for drug development. Calcium channel agonists protect against neuromuscular dysfunction in a zebrafish model of TARDBP mutation (Armstrong and Drapeau, 2013b). In addition, the antiexcitotoxic drug riluzole, that inhibits neuronal sodium channels in zebrafish (Tong and McDearmid, 2012) and is an approved drug for use in ALS, and apomorphine, known to be an activator of the NRF2 antioxidant response, were able to reduce the neuronal stress in a sod1 zebrafish model of ALS (Da Costa et al., 2014; McGown et al., 2013). These findings demonstrated the potential of this model to identify modifier genes and chemical suppressors of disease phenotypes that generically modulate the vulnerability of neurons to degeneration. The ease of performing whole-organism, in vivo bioassays of zebrafish offers an unparalleled opportunity for understanding how genes and their variants interact with exposure to environmental toxicants and drugs, either to preserve health or cause disease. This good predictive model may be relevant for MNDs with a high incidence of sporadic cases, such as ALS (Chang and Wu, 2009; Trojsi et al., 2013).

In conclusion, genetic analyses in humans together with *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies using model systems, like mice and zebrafish, have greatly expanded our knowledge of MNDs. As described in this review, the zebrafish has been used to study molecular and functional aspects of some MNDs in an *in vivo* context. However, this type of research is still in its infancy: relatively few human mutations have been investigated to date and there is great potential for combining different approaches to discover new genetic and environmental factors, alone or in combination. The model also offers very promising avenues for deciphering the *in vivo* deteriorations of physiological processes underlying unexplored MNDs.

Conflict of interest

None.

Acknowledgements

P.J.B. and C.G received financial support from the Agence Nationale de la Recherche (Project 2010BLAN112601/LIGENAX), the Association Française contre les Myopathies (14879/MNM2 2012), the Conseil Régional d'Aquitaine (2011-0151/LIGENAX), the Association Strumpell-Lorrain (ASL) (2011-0135), the Association contre les Maladies Mitochondriales (AMMi), and the Pôle de compétitivité Prod'Innov.

References

- Ackermann, B., Kröber, S., Torres-Benito, L., Borgmann, A., Peters, M., Hosseini Barkooie, S.M., Tejero, R., Jakubik, M., Schreml, J., Milbradt, J., Wunderlich, T.F., Riessland, M., Tabares, L., Wirth, B., 2013. Plastin 3 ameliorates spinal muscular atrophy via delayed axon pruning and improves neuromuscular junction functionality. Hum. Mol. Genet. 22, 1328–1347.
- Ahrens, M.B., Orger, M.B., Robson, D.N., Li, J.M., Keller, P.J., 2013. Whole-brain functional imaging at cellular resolution using light-sheet microscopy. Nat. Methods 10, 413–420.
- Akten, B., Kye, M.J., Hao, le T., Wertz, M.H., Singh, S., Nie, D., Huang, J., Merianda, T.T., Twiss, J.L., Beattie, C.E., Steen, J.A., Sahin, M., 2011. Interaction of survival of

motor neuron (SMN) and HuD proteins with mRNA cpg15 rescues motor neuron axonal deficits. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 108, 10337–10342.

- Allgrove, J., Clayden, G.S., Grant, D.B., Macaulay, J.C., 1978. Familial glucocorticoid deficiency with achalasia of the cardia and deficient tear production. Lancet 1, 1284–1286.
- Allison, R., Lumb, J.H., Fassier, C., Connell, J.W., Ten Martin, D., Seaman, M.N., Hazan, J., Reid, E., 2013. An ESCRT-spastin interaction promotes fission of recycling tubules from the endosome. J. Cell Biol. 202, 527–543.
- Alves, M.M., Burzynski, G., Delalande, J.M., Osinga, J., van der Goot, A., Dolga, A.M., de Graaff, E., Brooks, A.S., Metzger, M., Eisel, U.L., Shepherd, I., Eggen, B.J., Hofstra, R.M., 2010. KBP interacts with SCG10, linking Goldberg-Shprintzen syndrome to microtubule dynamics and neuronal differentiation. Hum. Mol. Genet. 19, 3642–3651.
- Amato, V., Viña, E., Calavia, M.G., Guerrera, M.C., Laurà, R., Navarro, M., De Carlos, F., Cobo, J., Germanà, A., Vega, J.A., 2012. TRPV4 in the sensory organs of adult zebrafish. Microsc. Res. Tech. 75, 89–96.
- Ampatzis, K., Song, J., Ausborn, J., El Manira, A., 2013. Pattern of innervation and recruitment of different classes of motoneurons in adult zebrafish. J. Neurosci. 33, 10875–10886.
- Arjona, F.J., de Vrieze, E., Visser, T.J., Flik, G., Klaren, P.H., 2011. Identification and functional characterization of zebrafish solute carrier Slc16a2 (Mct8) as a thyroid hormone membrane transporter. Endocrinology 152, 5065–5073.
- Armstrong, G.A., Drapeau, P., 2013a. Loss and gain of FUS function impair neuromuscular synaptic transmission in a genetic model of ALS. Hum. Mol. Genet. 22, 4282–4292.
- Armstrong, G.A., Drapeau, P., 2013b. Calcium channel agonists protect against neuromuscular dysfunction in a genetic model of TDP-43 mutation in ALS. J. Neurosci. 33, 1741–1752.
- Arrenberg, A.B., Driever, W., 2013. Integrating anatomy and function for zebrafish circuit analysis. Front. Neural Circ. 7, 74.
- Ashworth, R., Zimprich, F., Bolsover, S.R., 2001. Buffering intracellular calcium disrupts motoneuron development in intact zebrafish embryos. Dev. Brain Res. 129, 169–179.
- Baden, K.N., Murray, J., Capaldi, R.A., Guillemin, K., 2007. Early developmental pathology due to cytochrome c oxidase deficiency is revealed by a new zebrafish model. J. Biol. Chem. 282, 34839–34849.
- Bandmann, O., Burton, E.A., 2010. Genetic zebrafish models of neurodegenerative diseases. Neurobiol. Dis. 40, 58–65.
- Beattie, C.E., Hatta, K., Halpern, M.E., Liu, H., Eisen, J.S., Kimmel, C.B., 1997. Temporal separation in the specification of primary and secondary motoneurons in zebrafish. Dev. Biol. 187, 171–182.
- Bebee, T.W., Dominguez, C.E., Chandler, D.S., 2012. Mouse models of SMA: tools for disease characterization and therapeutic development. Hum. Genet. 131, 1277– 1293.
- Becker, C.G., Becker, T., 2007. Zebrafish as a model system for successful spinal cord regeneration. In: Becker, C.G., Becker, T. (Eds.), Model Organisms in Spinal Cord Regeneration. Wiley-VCH, Weinheim, pp. 289–319.
- Becker, T.S., Rinkwitz, S., 2012. Zebrafish as a genomics model for human neurological and polygenic disorders. Dev. Neurobiol. 72, 415–428.
- Becker, T., Wullimann, M.F., Becker, C.G., Bernhardt, R.R., Schachner, M., 1997. Axonal regrowth after spinal cord transection in adult zebrafish. J. Comp. Neurol. 377, 577–595.
- Bedell, V.M., Wang, Y., Campbell, J.M., Poshusta, T.L., Starker, C.G., Krug 2nd, R.G., Tan, W., Penheiter, S.G., Ma, A.C., Leung, A.Y., Fahrenkrug, S.C., Carlson, D.F., Voytas, D.F., Clark, K.J., Essne, J.J.r., Ekker, S.C., 2012. In vivo genome editing using a high-efficiency TALEN system. Nature 491, 114–118.
- Behan, W.M., Maia, M., 1974. Strumpell's familial spastic paraplegia: genetics and neuropathology. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry 37, 8–20.
- Bhatt, D.H., Otto, S.J., Depoister, B., Fetcho, J.K., 2004. Cyclic AMP-induced repair of zebrafish spinal circuits. Science 305, 254–258.
- Bill, B.R., Petzold, A.M., Clark, K.J., Schimmenti, L.A., Ekker, S.C., 2009. A primer for morpholino use in zebrafish. Zebrafish 6, 69–77.
- Birely, J., Schneider, V.A., Santana, E., Dosch, R., Wagner, D.S., Mullins, M.C., Granato, M., 2005. Genetic screens for genes controlling motor nerve-muscle development and interactions. Dev. Biol. 280, 162–176.
- Biswas, S., Duy, P.Q., Hao, le T., Beattie, C.E., Jontes, J.D., 2014. Protocadherin-18b interacts with Nap1 to control motor axon growth and arborization in zebrafish. Mol. Biol. Cell 25, 633–642.
- Blackstone, C., 2012. Cellular pathways of hereditary spastic paraplegia. Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 35, 25–47.
- Boon, K.L., Xiao, S., McWhorter, M.L., Donn, T., Wolf-Saxon, E., Bohnsack, M.T., Moens, C.B., Beattie, C.E., 2009. Zebrafish survival motor neuron mutants exhibit presynaptic neuromuscular junction defects. Hum. Mol. Genet. 18, 3615–3625.
- Bosch, A.M., Stroek, K., Abeling, N.G., Waterham, H.R., Ijlst, L., Wanders, R.J., 2012. The Brown-Vialetto-Van Laere and Fazio Londe syndrome revisited: natural history, genetics, treatment and future perspectives. Orphanet J. Rare Dis. 7, 83.
- Braasch, I., Postlethwait, J.H., 2012. Fish polyploidy and the teleost genome duplication. In: Soltis, P.S., Soltis, D.E. (Eds.), Polyploidy and Genome Evolution. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp. 341–383.
- Bradford, Y., Conlin, T., Dunn, N., Fashena, D., Frazer, K., Howe, D.G., Knight, J., Mani, P., Martin, R., Moxon, S.A., Paddock, H., Pich, C., Ramachandran, S., Ruef, B.J., Ruzicka, L., Bauer Schaper, H., Schaper, K., Shao, X., Singer, A., Sprague, J., Sprunger, B., Van Slyke, C., Westerfield, M., 2011. ZFIN: enhancements and updates to the zebrafish model organism database. Nucleic Acids Res. 39, D822– D829.

- Brooks, B.R., Miller, R.G., Swash, M., Munsat, T.L., 2000. El Escorial revisited: revised criteria for the diagnosis of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Amyotroph. Lateral Scler. Other Motor Neuron Disord. 1, 293–299.
- Brösamle, C., 2010. The myelin proteolipid DMα in fishes. Neuron Glia Biol. 6, 109– 112.
- Brown, R., Phil, D., 2000. Inherited motor neuron disease. In: Pulst, S. (Ed.), Neurogenetics. Oxford University Press, New York, pp. 281–291.
- Burgess, H.A., Granato, M., 2007a. Sensorimotor gating in larval zebrafish. J. Neurosci. 27, 4984–4994.
- Burgess, H.A., Granato, M., 2007b. Modulation of locomotor activity in larval zebrafish during light adaptation. J. Exp. Biol. 210, 2526–2539.
- Burghes, A.H., Beattie, C.E., 2009. Spinal muscular atrophy: why do low levels of survival motor neuron protein make motor neurons sick? Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 10, 597–609.
- Burke, R.E., Levine, D.N., Tsairis, P., Zajac 3rd, F.E., 1973. Physiological types and histochemical profiles in motor units of the cat gastrocnemius. J. Physiol. 234, 723–748.
- Buss, R.R., Drapeau, P., 2002. Activation of embryonic red and white muscle fibers during fictive swimming in the developing zebrafish. J. Neurophysiol. 87, 1244– 1251.
- Butler, R., Wood, J.D., Landers, J.A., Cunliffe, V.T., 2010. Genetic and chemical modulation of spastin-dependent axon outgrowth in zebrafish embryos indicates a role for impaired microtubule dynamics in hereditary spastic paraplegia. Dis. Model Mech. 3, 743–751.
- Campbell, P.D., Marlow, F.L., 2013. Temporal and tissue specific gene expression patterns of the zebrafish kinesin-1 heavy chain family, kif5s, during development. Gene Expr. Patterns 13, 271–279.
- Cao, P., Hanai, J., Tanksale, P., Imamura, S., Sukhatme, V.P., Lecker, S.H., 2009. Statininduced muscle damage and atrogin-1 induction is the result of a geranylgeranylation defect. FASEB J. 23, 2844–2854.
- Carrel, T.L., McWhorter, M.L., Workman, E., Zhang, H., Wolstencroft, E.C., Lorson, C., Bassell, G.J., Burghes, A.H., Beattie, C.E., 2006. Survival motor neuron function in motor axons is independent of functions required for small nuclear ribonucleoprotein biogenesis. J. Neurosci. 26, 11014–11022.
- Cenci, M.A., Whishaw, I.Q., Schallert, T., 2002. Animal models of neurological deficits: how relevant is the rat? Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 3, 574–579.
- Chapman, A.L., Bennett, E.J., Ramesh, T.M., De Vos, K.J., Grierson, A.J., 2013. Axonal transport defects in a mitofusin 2 loss of function model of Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease in zebrafish. PLoS ONE 8, e67276.
- Chang, P.A., Wu, Y.J., 2009. Motor neuron diseases and neurotoxic substances: a possible link? Chem. Biol. Interact. 180, 127–130.
- Chen, H., Detmer, S.A., Ewald, A.J., Griffin, E.E., Fraser, S.E., Chan, D.C., 2003. Mitofusins Mfn1 and Mfn2 coordinately regulate mitochondrial fusion and are essential for embryonic development. J. Cell Biol. 160, 189–200.
- Chen, Y.H., Huang, Y.H., Wen, C.C., Wang, Y.H., Chen, W.L., Chen, L.C., Tsay, H.J., 2008. Movement disorder and neuromuscular change in zebrafish embryos after exposure to caffeine. Neurotoxicol. Teratol. 30, 440–447.
- Chitramuthu, B.P., Baranowski, D.C., Kay, D.G., Bateman, A., Bennett, H.P., 2010. Progranulin modulates zebrafish motoneuron development in vivo and rescues truncation defects associated with knockdown of Survival motor neuron 1. Mol. Neurodegener, 5, 41.
- Ciccolella, M., Catteruccia, M., Benedetti, S., Moroni, I., Uziel, G., Pantaleoni, C., Chiapparini, L., Bizzi, A., D'Amico, A., Fattori, F., Salsano, M.L., Pastore, A., Tozzi, G., Piemonte, F., Bertini, E., 2012. Brown-Vialetto-van Laere and Fazio-Londe overlap syndromes: a clinical, biochemical and genetic study. Neuromuscul. Disord. 22, 1075–1082.
- Ciura, S., Lattante, S., Le Ber, I., Latouche, M., Tostivint, H., Brice, A., Kabashi, E., 2013. Loss of function of C9orf72 causes motor deficits in a zebrafish model of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Ann. Neurol. 74, 180–187.
- Coleman, M., 2005. Axon degeneration mechanisms: commonality amid diversity. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 6, 889–898.
- Coleman, M.P., Ribchester, R.R., 2004. Programmed axon death, synaptic dysfunction and the ubiquitin proteasome system. Curr. Drug Targets CNS Neurol. Disord. 3, 227–238.
- Cozzolino, M., Carri, M.T., 2012. Mitochondrial dysfunction in ALS. Prog. Neurobiol. 97, 54–66.
- Da Costa, M.M., Allen, C.E., Higginbottom, A., Ramesh, T., Shaw, P.J., McDermott, C.J., 2014. A new zebrafish model of SOD1 ALS produced by TILLING replicates key features of the disease and represents a tool for in vivo therapeutic screening. Dis. Model Mech. 7, 73–81.
- D'Amico, A., Mercuri, E., Tiziano, F.D., Bertini, E., 2011. Spinal muscular atrophy. Orphanet J. Rare Dis. 6, 71.
- Dasen, J.S., Jessell, T.M., 2009. Hox networks and the origins of motor neuron diversity. Curr. Top. Dev. Biol. 88, 169–200.
- de Carvalho, M., Dengler, R., Eisen, A., England, J.D., Kaji, R., Kimura, J., Mills, K., Mitsumoto, H., Nodera, H., Shefner, J., Swash, M., 2008. Electrodiagnostic criteria for diagnosis of ALS. Clin. Neurophysiol. 119, 497–503.
- Del Bene, F., Wehman, A.M., Link, B.A., Baier, H., 2008. Regulation of neurogenesis by interkinetic nuclear migration through an apical-basal notch gradient. Cell 134, 1055–1065.
- Deluca, G.C., Ebers, G.C., Esiri, M.M., 2004. The extent of axonal loss in the long tracts in hereditary spastic paraplegia. Neuropathol. Appl. Neurobiol. 30, 576–584.
- Denizot, J.P., Bratton, B.O., Bréhier, A., Thomasset, M., 1988. Immunohistochemical demonstration of calbindin-D 28K (CABP28K) in the spinal cord motoneurons of teleost fish. Cell Tissue Res. 254, 629–634.

Depienne, C., Stevanin, G., Brice, A., Durr, A., 2007. Hereditary spastic paraplegias: an update. Curr. Opin. Neurol. 20, 674-680.

Devic, P., Petiot, P., Mauguiere, F., 2012. Spinal Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease: a reappraisal. Muscle Nerve 46, 604-609.

- Desai, N.P., Olney, R.K., 2009. Neuromuscular diseases. In: Corey-Bloom, J., David, R.B. (Eds.), Clinical Adult Neurology. 3rd ed. Demos Medical Publishing, New York, pp. 307–333.
- Dion, P.A., Daoud, H., Rouleau, G.A., 2009. Genetics of motor neuron disorders: new insights into pathogenic mechanisms. Nat. Rev. Genet. 10, 769-782.
- Donkelaar, H.J., 1988. Evolution of the red nucleus and rubrospinal tract. Behav. Brain Res. 28, 9-20.
- Dooley, C.M., Scahill, C., Fényes, F., Kettleborough, R.N., Stemple, D.L., Busch-Nentwich, E.M., 2013. Multi-allelic phenotyping - a systematic approach for the simultaneous analysis of multiple induced mutations. Methods 62, 197-206
- Drapeau, P., Saint-Amant, L., Buss, R.R., Chong, M., McDearmid, J.R., Brustein, E., 2002. Development of the locomotor network in zebrafish. Prog. Neurobiol. 68, 85-111.
- Edgar, J.M., McLaughlin, M., Yool, D., Zhang, S.C., Fowler, J.H., Montague, P., Barrie, J.A., McCulloch, M.C., Duncan, I.D., Garbern, J., Nave, K.A., Griffiths, I.R., 2004. Oligodendroglial modulation of fast axonal transport in a mouse model of hereditary spastic paraplegia. J. Cell Biol. 166, 121-131.
- Eisen, J.S., Myers, P.Z., Westerfield, M., 1986. Pathway selection by growth cones of identified motoneurones in live zebra fish embryos. Nature 320, 269-271.
- Eisen, J.S., Pike, S.H., Romancier, B., 1990. An identified motoneuron with variable fates in embryonic zebrafish. J. Neurosci. 10, 34-43.
- Eisen, J.S., Smith, J.C., 2008. Controlling morpholino experiments: don't stop making antisense. Development 135, 1735-1743.
- Fajardo, O., Zhu, P., Friedrich, R.W., 2013. Control of a specific motor program by a small brain area in zebrafish. Front. Neural Circ. 7, 67.
- Fassier, C., Hutt, J.A., Scholpp, S., Lumsden, A., Giros, B., Nothias, F., Schneider-Maunoury, S., Houart, C., Hazan, J., 2010. Zebrafish atlastin controls motility and spinal motor axon architecture via inhibition of the BMP pathway. Nat. Neurosci. 13, 1380–1387.
- Feldkotter, M., Schwarzer, V., Wirth, R., Wienker, T.F., Wirth, B., 2002. Quantitative analyses of SMN1 and SMN2 based on real-time lightCycler PCR: fast and highly reliable carrier testing and prediction of severity of spinal muscular atrophy. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 70, 358-368.
- Feldner, J., Becker, T., Goishi, K., Schweitzer, J., Lee, P., Schachner, M., Klagsbrun, M., Becker, C.G., 2005. Neuropilin-1a is involved in trunk motor axon outgrowth in embryonic zebrafish. Dev. Dyn. 234, 535-549.
- Feldner, J., Reimer, M.M., Schweitzer, J., Wendik, B., Meyer, D., Becker, T., Becker, C.G., 2007. PlexinA3 restricts spinal exit points and branching of trunk motor nerves in embryonic zebrafish. J. Neurosci. 27, 4978–4983.
- Feng, Y., Yan, T., Zheng, J., Ge, X., Mu, Y., Zhang, Y., Wu, D., Du, J.L., Zhai, Q., 2010. Overexpression of Wld^s or Nmnat2 in Mauthner cells by single-cell electroporation delays axon degeneration in live zebrafish. J. Neurosci. Res. 88, 3319-3327
- Fetcho, J.R., 1992. The spinal motor system in early vertebrates and some of its evolutionary changes. Brain Behav. Evol. 40, 82-97.
- Fetcho, J.R., 2007. The utility of zebrafish for studies of the comparative biology of motor systems. J. Exp. Zool. B: Mol. Dev. Evol. 308, 550–562.
- Fidelin, K., Wyart, C., 2014. Inhibition and motor control in the developing zebrafish spinal cord, Curr. Opin. Neurobiol. 26C, 103-109.
- Fink, J.K., 2013. Hereditary spastic paraplegia: clinico-pathologic features and emerging molecular mechanisms. Acta Neuropathol. 126, 307-328.
- Finsterer, J., 2009. Bulbar and spinal muscular atrophy (Kennedy's disease): a review. Eur. J. Neurol. 16, 556-561.
- Finsterer, J., Löscher, W., Quasthoff, S., Wanschitz, J., Auer-Grumbach, M., Stevanin, G., 2012. Hereditary spastic paraplegias with autosomal dominant, recessive, Xlinked, or maternal trait of inheritance. J. Neurol. Sci. 318, 1-18.
- Fischer, L.R., Culver, D.G., Tennant, P., Davis, A.A., Wang, M., Castellano-Sanchez, A., Khan, J., Polak, M.A., Glass, J.D., 2004. Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis is a distal axonopathy: evidence in mice and man. Exp. Neurol. 185, 232-240.
- Flanagan-Steet, H., Fox, M.A., Meyer, D., Sanes, J.R., 2005. Neuromuscular synapses can form in vivo by incorporation of initially aneural postsynaptic specializations. Development 132, 4471-4481.
- Fontaine, E., Lentink, D., Kranenbarg, S., Müller, U.K., van Leeuwen, J.L., Barr, A.H., Burdick, J.W., 2008. Automated visual tracking for studying the ontogeny of zebrafish swimming. J. Exp. Biol. 211, 1305–1316.
- Gabriel, J.P., Ausborn, J., Ampatzis, K., Mahmood, R., Eklöf-Ljunggren, E., El Manira, A., 2011. Principles governing recruitment of motoneurons during swimming in zebrafish. Nat. Neurosci. 14, 93-99.
- Gahtan, E., O'Malley, D.M., 2003. Visually guided injection of identified reticulospinal neurons in zebrafish: a survey of spinal arborization patterns. J. Comp. Neurol, 459, 186-200.
- Gahtan, E., Sankrithi, N., Campos, J.B., O'Malley, D.M., 2002. Evidence for a widespread brain stem escape network in larval zebrafish. J. Neurophysiol. 87, 608-614.
- Gahtan, E., Tanger, P., Baier, H., 2005. Visual prey capture in larval zebrafish is controlled by identified reticulospinal neurons downstream of the tectum. J. Neurosci. 25 (40), 9294-9303.
- Gassman, A., Hao, le T., Bhoite, L., Bradford, C.L., Chien, C.B., Beattie, C.E., Manfredi, J.P., 2013. Small molecule suppressors of Drosophila kinesin deficiency rescue motor axon development in a zebrafish model of spinal muscular atrophy. PLoS ONE 8, e74325.

- Gemberling, M., Bailey, T.J., Hyde, D.R., Poss, K.D., 2013. The zebrafish as a model for complex tissue regeneration. Trends Genet. 29, 611-620.
- Ghez, C., Krakauer, J., 2000. The organization of movement. In: Kandel, E.R., Schwartz, J.H., Jessell, T.M. (Eds.), Principles of Neural Science. McGraw-Hill, New York, pp. 653-673.
- Gibbs, E.M., Horstick, E.J., Dowling, J.J., 2013. Swimming into prominence: the zebrafish as a valuable tool for studying human myopathies and muscular dystrophies. FEBS J. 280, 4187-4197.
- Glinka, M., Herrmann, T., Funk, N., Havlicek, S., Rossoll, W., Winkler, C., Sendtner, M., 2010. The heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoprotein-R is necessary for axonal beta-actin mRNA translocation in spinal motor neurons. Hum. Mol. Genet. 19, 1951-1966.
- Glynn, P., 2013. Neuronal phospholipid deacylation is essential for axonal and synaptic integrity. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1831, 633-641.
- Goizet, C., Boukhris, A., Durr, A., Beetz, C., Truchetto, J., Tesson, C., Tsaousidou, M., Forlani, S., Guyant-Marechal, L., Fontaine, B., Guimaraes, J., Isidor, B., Chazouilleres, O., Wendum, D., Grid, D., Chevy, F., Chinnery, P.F., Coutinho, P., Azulay, J.P., Feki, I., Mochel, F., Wolf, C., Mhiri, C., Crosby, A., Brice, A., Stevanin, G., 2009. CYP7B1 mutations in pure and complex forms of hereditary spastic paraplegia type 5. Brain 132, 1589-1600.
- Goizet, C., Catargi, B., Tison, F., Tullio-Pelet, A., Hadj-Rabia, S., Pujol, F., Lagueny, A., Lyonnet, S., Lacombe, D., 2002. Progressive bulbospinal amyotrophy in Triple A syndrome with AAAS gene mutation. Neurology 58, 962-965.
- Goizet, C., Depienne, C., Benard, G., Boukhris, A., Mundwiller, E., Sole, G., Coupry, I., Pilliod, J., Martin-Negrier, M.L., Fedirko, E., Forlani, S., Cazeneuve, C., Hannequin, D., Charles, P., Feki, I., Pinel, J.F., Ouvrard-Hernandez, A.M., Lyonnet, S., Ollagnon-Roman, E., Yaouanq, J., Toutain, A., Dussert, C., Fontaine, B., Leguern, E., Lacombe, D., Durr, A., Rossignol, R., Brice, A., Stevanin, G., 2011. REEP1 mutations in SPG31: frequency, mutational spectrum, and potential association with mitochondrial morpho-functional dysfunction. Hum. Mutat. 32, 1118-1127.
- Gordon, P.H., Cheng, B., Katz, I.B., Pinto, M., Hays, A.P., Mitsumoto, H., Rowland, L.P., 2006. The natural history of primary lateral sclerosis. Neurology 66, 647-653.
- Goulding, M., 2009. Circuits controlling vertebrate locomotion: moving in a new direction. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 10, 507–518.
- Goyal, U., Blackstone, C., 2013. Untangling the web: mechanisms underlying ER network formation. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1833, 2492-2498.
- Granato, M., van Eeden, F.J., Schach, U., Trowe, T., Brand, M., Furutani-Seiki, M., Haffter, P., Hammerschmidt, M., Heisenberg, C.P., Jiang, Y.J., Kane, D.A., Kelsh, R.N., Mullins, M.C., Odenthal, J., Nüsslein-Volhard, C., 1996. Genes controlling and mediating locomotion behavior of the zebrafish embryo and larva. Development 123, 399-413.
- Grice, S.J., Sleigh, J.N., Liu, J.L., Sattelle, D.B., 2011. Invertebrate models of spinal muscular atrophy: insights into mechanisms and potential therapeutics. Bioessays 33, 956-965
- Grohmann, K., Schuelke, M., Diers, A., Hoffmann, K., Lucke, B., Adams, C., Bertini, E., Leonhardt-Horti, H., Muntoni, F., Ouvrier, R., Pfeufer, A., Rossi, R., Van Maldergem, L., Wilmshurst, J.M., Wienker, T.F., Sendtner, M., Rudnik-Schoneborn, S., Zerres, K., Hubner, C., 2001. Mutations in the gene encoding immunoglobulin mu-binding protein 2 cause spinal muscular atrophy with respiratory distress type 1. Nat. Genet. 29, 75–77
- Grohmann, K., Varon, R., Stolz, P., Schuelke, M., Janetzki, C., Bertini, E., Bushby, K., Muntoni, F., Ouvrier, R., Van Maldergem, L., Goemans, N.M., Lochmuller, H., Eichholz, S., Adams, C., Bosch, F., Grattan-Smith, P., Navarro, C., Neitzel, H., Polster, T., Topaloglu, H., Steglich, C., Guenther, U.P., Zerres, K., Rudnik-Schoneborn, S., Hubner, C. 2003. Infantile spinal muscular atrophy with respiratory distress type 1 (SMARD1). Ann. Neurol. 54, 719–724.
- Gros-Louis, F., Kriz, J., Kabashi, E., McDearmid, J., Millecamps, S., Urushitani, M., Lin, L., Dion, P., Zhu, Q., Drapeau, P., Julien, J.P., Rouleau, G.A., 2008. Als2 mRNA splicing variants detected in KO mice rescue severe motor dysfunction phenotype in Als2 knockdown zebrafish. Hum. Mol. Genet. 17, 2691-2702.
- Guillot, N., Cuisset, J.M., Cuvellier, J.C., Hurtevent, J.F., Joriot, S., Vallee, L., 2008. Unusual clinical features in infantile spinal muscular atrophies. Brain Dev. 30, 169 - 178
- Haliloglu, G., Chattopadhyay, A., Skorodis, L., Manzur, A., Mercuri, E., Talim, B., Akcoren, Z., Renda, Y., Muntoni, F., Topaloglu, H., 2002. Spinal muscular atrophy with progressive myoclonic epilepsy: report of new cases and review of the literature. Neuropediatrics 33, 314-319.
- Hamilton, G., Gillingwater, T.H., 2013. Spinal muscular atrophy: going beyond the
- motor neuron. Trends Mol. Med. 19, 40–50. Hanai, J., Cao, P., Tanksale, P., Imamura, S., Koshimizu, E., Zhao, J., Kishi, S., Yamashita, M., Phillips, P.S., Sukhatme, V.P., Lecker, S.H., 2007. The musclespecific ubiquitin ligase atrogin-1/MAFbx mediates statin-induced muscle toxicity. J. Clin. Invest. 117, 3940-3951.
- Hans, S., Freudenreich, D., Geffarth, M., Kaslin, J., Machate, A., Brand, M., 2011. Generation of a non-leaky heat shock-inducible Cre line for conditional Cre/lox strategies in zebrafish. Dev. Dyn. 240, 108-115.
- Hao, le T., Burghes, A.H., Beattie, C.E., 2011. Generation and characterization of a genetic zebrafish model of SMA carrying the human SMN2 gene. Mol. Neurodegener. 6, 24.
- Hao, le T., Duy, P.Q., Jontes, J.D., Wolman, M., Granato, M., Beattie, C.E., 2013. Temporal requirement for SMN in motoneuron development. Hum. Mol. Genet. 22 2612-2625
- Hao, le T., Wolman, M., Granato, M., Beattie, C.E., 2012. Survival motor neuron affects plastin 3 protein levels leading to motor defects. J. Neurosci. 32, 5074-5084.

- Herva, R., Conradi, N.G., Kalimo, H., Leisti, J., Sourander, P., 1988. A syndrome of multiple congenital contractures: neuropathological analysis on five fetal cases. Am. J. Med. Genet. 29, 67-76.
- Hewamadduma, C.A., Grierson, A.J., Ma, T.P., Pan, L., Moens, C.B., Ingham, P.W., Ramesh, T., Shaw, P.J., 2013. Tardbpl splicing rescues motor neuron and axonal development in a mutant tardbp zebrafish. Hum. Mol. Genet. 22, 2376-2386.
- Higashijima, S., Hotta, Y., Okamoto, H., 2000. Visualization of cranial motor neurons in live transgenic zebrafish expressing green fluorescent protein under the control of the islet-1 promoter/enhancer. J. Neurosci. 20, 206-218.
- Hilario, J.D., Rodino-Klapac, L.R., Wang, C., Beattie, C.E., 2009. Semaphorin 5A is a bifunctional axon guidance cue for axial motoneurons in vivo. Dev. Biol. 326, 190-200
- Hirata, H., Carta, E., Yamanaka, I., Harvey, R.J., Kuwada, J.Y., 2010. Defective glycinergic synaptic transmission in zebrafish motility mutants. Front. Mol. leurosci. 2, 26.
- Hirth, F., 2010. Drosophila melanogaster in the study of human neurodegeneration. CNS Neurol. Disord. Drug Targets 9, 504-523
- Hoppmann, V., Wu, J.J., Søviknes, A.M., Helvik, J.V., Becker, T.S., 2008. Expression of the eight AMPA receptor subunit genes in the developing central nervous system and sensory organs of zebrafish. Dev. Dyn. 237, 788–799.
- Houlden, H., Smith, S., De Carvalho, M., Blake, J., Mathias, C., Wood, N.W., Reilly, M.M., 2002. Clinical and genetic characterization of families with triple A (Allgrove) syndrome. Brain 125, 2681-2690.
- Howe, K., Clark, M.D., Torroja, C.F., Torrance, J., Berthelot, C., Muffato, M., Collins, J.E., Humphray, S., McLaren, K., Matthews, L., McLaren, S., Sealy, I., Caccamo, M., et al., 2013. The zebrafish reference genome sequence and its relationship to the human genome. Nature 496, 498-503.
- Hruscha, A., Krawitz, P., Rechenberg, A., Heinrich, V., Hecht, J., Haass, C., Schmid, B., 2013. Efficient CRISPR/Cas9 genome editing with low off-target effects in zebrafish. Development 140, 4982-4987.
- Hsu, C.C., Pai, W.Y., Lai, C.Y., Lu, M.W., Her, G.M., 2013. Genetic characterization and in vivo image analysis of novel zebrafish Danio rerio pigment mutants. J. Fish Biol. 82, 1671-1683.
- Huppke, P., Brendel, C., Kalscheuer, V., Korenke, G.C., Marquardt, I., Freisinger, P., Christodoulou, J., Hillebrand, M., Pitelet, G., Wilson, C., Gruber-Sedlmayr, U., Ullmann, R., Haas, S., Elpeleg, O., Nürnberg, G., Nürnberg, P., Dad, S., Møller, L.B., Kaler, S.G., Gärtner, J., 2012. Mutations in SLC33A1 cause a lethal autosomalrecessive disorder with congenital cataracts, hearing loss, and low serum copper and ceruloplasmin. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 90, 61-68.
- Hutchinson, S.A., Cheesman, S.E., Hale, L.A., Boone, J.O., Eisen, J.S., 2007. Nkx6 proteins specify one zebrafish primary motoneuron subtype by regulating late islet1 expression. Development 134, 1671–1677.
- Hutchinson, S.A., Eisen, J.S., 2006. Islet1 and Islet2 have equivalent abilities to promote motoneuron formation and to specify motoneuron subtype identity. Islet1 and Islet2 have equivalent abilities to promote motoneuron formation and to specify motoneuron subtype identity. Development 133, 2137-2147.
- Hwang, W.Y., Fu, Y., Reyon, D., Maeder, M.L., Kaini, P., Sander, J.D., Joung, J.K., Peterson, R.T., Yeh, J.R., 2013. Heritable and precise zebrafish genome editing using a CRISPR-Cas system. PLoS ONE. 8, e68708.
- Isa, T., Ohki, Y., Alstermark, B., Pettersson, L.G., Sasaki, S., 2007. Direct and indirect cortico-motoneuronal pathways and control of hand/arm movements. Physiology (Bethesda) 22, 145-152.
- Issa, F.A., Mazzochi, C., Mock, A.F., Papazian, D.M., 2011. Spinocerebellar ataxia type 13 mutant potassium channel alters neuronal excitability and causes locomotor deficits in zebrafish. J. Neurosci. 31, 6831-6841.
- Iwaniuk, A.N., Whishaw, I.Q., 2000. On the origin of skilled forelimb movements. Trends Neurosci. 23, 372–376. Jankovic, J., Rivera, V.M., 1979. Hereditary myoclonus and progressive distal mus-
- cular atrophy. Ann. Neurol. 6, 227-231.
- Jao, L.E., Appel, B., Wente, S.R., 2012. A zebrafish model of lethal congenital contracture syndrome 1 reveals Gle1 function in spinal neural precursor survival and motor axon arborization. Development 139, 1316-1326
- Jao, L.E., Wente, S.R., Chen, W., 2013. Efficient multiplex biallelic zebrafish genome editing using a CRISPR nuclease system. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 110, 13904-13909
- Kabashi, E., Bercier, V., Lissouba, A., Liao, M., Brustein, E., Rouleau, G.A., Drapeau, P., 2011a. FUS and TARDBP but not SOD1 interact in genetic models of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. PLoS Genet. 7, e1002214.
- Kabashi, E., Brustein, E., Champagne, N., Drapeau, P., 2011b. Zebrafish models for the functional genomics of neurogenetic disorders. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1812, 335-345
- Kabashi, E., Champagne, N., Brustein, E., Drapeau, P., 2010a. In the swim of things: recent insights to neurogenetic disorders from zebrafish. Trends Genet. 26, 373-381
- Kabashi, E., El Oussini, H., Bercier, V., Gros-Louis, F., Valdmanis, P.N., McDearmid, J., Mejier, I.A., Dion, P.A., Dupre, N., Hollinger, D., Sinniger, J., Dirrig-Grosch, S., Camu, W., Meininger, V., Loeffler, J.P., René, F., Drapeau, P., Rouleau, G.A., Dupuis, L., 2013. Investigating the contribution of VAPB/ALS8 loss of function in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Hum. Mol. Genet. 22, 2350-2360.
- Kabashi, E., Lin, L., Tradewell, M.L., Dion, P.A., Bercier, V., Bourgouin, P., Rochefort, D., Bel Hadj, S., Durham, H.D., Vande Velde, C., Rouleau, G.A., Drapeau, P., 2010b. Gain and loss of function of ALS-related mutations of TARDBP (TDP-43) cause motor deficits in vivo. Hum. Mol. Genet. 19, 671-683.
- Kaindl, A.M., Guenther, U.P., Rudnik-Schoneborn, S., Varon, R., Zerres, K., Schuelke, M., Hubner, C., von Au, K., 2008. Spinal muscular atrophy with respiratory distress type 1 (SMARD1). J. Child. Neurol. 23, 199-204.

- Kalueff, A.V., Gebhardt, M., Stewart, A.M., Cachat, J.M., Brimmer, M., Chawla, J.S., Craddock, C., Kyzar, E.J., Roth, A., Landsman, S., Gaikwad, S., Robinson, K., Baatrup, E., Tierney, K., Shamchuk, A., Norton, W., Miller, N., Nicolson, T., Braubach, O., Gilman, C.P., Pittman, J., Rosemberg, D.B., Gerlai, R., Echevarria, D., Lamb, E., Neuhauss, S.C., Weng, W., Bally-Cuif, L., Schneider, H., Zebrafish Neuroscience Research Consortium, 2013. Towards a comprehensive catalog of zebrafish behavior 1.0 and beyond. Zebrafish 10, 70-86.
- Kanning, K.C., Kaplan, A., Henderson, C.E., 2010. Motor neuron diversity in development and disease. Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 33, 409-440.
- Kanungo, J., Lantz, S., Paule, M.G., 2011. In vivo imaging and quantitative analysis of changes in axon length using transgenic zebrafish embryos. Neurotoxicol. Teratol. 33, 618-623.
- Kariya, S., Mauricio, R., Dai, Y., Monani, U.R., 2009. The neuroprotective factor Wld(s) fails to mitigate distal axonal and neuromuscular junction (NMJ) defects in mouse models of spinal muscular atrophy. Neurosci. Lett. 449, 246-251
- Kariya, S., Park, G.H., Maeno-Hikichi, Y., Leykekhman, O., Lutz, C., Arkovitz, M.S., Landmesser, L.T., Monani, U.R., 2008. Reduced SMN protein impairs maturation of the neuromuscular junctions in mouse models of spinal muscular atrophy. Hum. Mol. Genet. 17, 2552–2569.
- Kaufman, C.K., White, R.M., Zon, L., 2009. Chemical genetic screening in the zebrafish embryo. Nat. Protoc. 4, 1422-1432.
- Kennedy, W.R., Alter, M., Sung, J.H., 1968. Progressive proximal spinal and bulbar muscular atrophy of late onset. A sex-linked recessive trait. Neurology 18, 671-680
- Kettleborough, R.N., Busch-Nentwich, E.M., Harvey, S.A., Dooley, C.M., de Bruijn, E., van Eeden, F., Sealy, I., White, R.J., Herd, C., Nijman, I.J., Fényes, F., Mehroke, S., Scahill, C., Gibbons, R., Wali, N., Carruthers, S., Hall, A., Yen, J., Cuppen, E., Stemple, D.L., 2013. A systematic genome-wide analysis of zebrafish proteincoding gene function. Nature 496, 494-497.
- Kiernan, M.C., Vucic, S., Cheah, B.C., Turner, M.R., Eisen, A., Hardiman, O., Burrell, J.R., Zoing, M.C., 2011. Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Lancet 377, 942-955.
- Kimmel, C.B., Powell, S.L., Metcalfe, W.K., 1982. Brain neurons which project to the spinal cord in young larvae of the zebrafish. J. Comp. Neurol. 205, 112-127.
- Kimura, Y., Satou, C., Fujioka, S., Shoji, W., Umeda, K., Ishizuka, T., Yawo, H., Higashijima, S., 2013. Hindbrain V2a neurons in the excitation of spinal locomotor circuits during zebrafish swimming. Curr. Biol. 23, 843-849.
- Kizil, C., Kaslin, J., Kroehne, V., Brand, M., 2012. Adult neurogenesis and brain regeneration in zebrafish. Dev. Neurobiol. 72, 429-461.
- Kohashi, T., Oda, Y., 2008. Initiation of Mauthner- or non-Mauthner-mediated fast escape evoked by different modes of sensory input. J. Neurosci. 28, 10641-10653
- La Spada, A.R., Wilson, E.M., Lubahn, D.B., Harding, A.E., Fischbeck, K.H., 1991. Androgen receptor gene mutations in X-linked spinal and bulbar muscular atrophy. Nature 352, 77-79.
- Laird, A.S., Robberecht, W., 2011. Modeling neurodegenerative diseases in zebrafish embryos. Methods Mol. Biol. 793, 167–184.
- Laird, A.S., Van Hoecke, A., De Muynck, L., Timmers, M., Van den Bosch, L., Van Damme, P., Robberecht, W., 2010. Progranulin is neurotrophic in vivo and protects against a mutant TDP-43 induced axonopathy. PLoS ONE 5, e13368.
- Langworthy, M.M., Appel, B., 2012. Schwann cell myelination requires dynein function, Neural Dev. 7, 37,
- Lanson Jr., N.A., Pandey, U.B., 2012. FUS-related proteinopathies: lessons from
- animal models. Brain Res. 1462, 44–60. Lee, Y.B., Chen, H.J., Peres, J.N., Gomez-Deza, J., Attig, J., Stalekar, M., Troakes, C., Nishimura, A.L., Scotter, E.L., Vance, C., Adachi, Y., Sardone, V., Miller, J.W., Smith, B.N., Gallo, J.M., Ule, J., Hirth, F., Rogelj, B., Houart, C., Shaw, C.E., 2013. Hexanucleotide R = repeats in ALS/FTD Form length-dependent RNA foci, sequester RNA binding proteins, and are neurotoxic. Cell Rep. 5, 1178-1186.
- Lefebvre, S., Burglen, L., Reboullet, S., Clermont, O., Burlet, P., Viollet, L., Benichou, B., Cruaud, C., Millasseau, P., Zeviani, M., Le Paslier, D., Frézal, J., Cohen, D., Weissenbach, J., Munnich, A., Melki, J., 1995. Identification and characterization of a spinal muscular atrophy-determining gene. Cell 80, 155–165. Lemmens, R., Van Hoecke, A., Hersmus, N., Geelen, V., D'Hollander, I., Thijs, V., Van
- Den Bosch, L., Carmeliet, P., Robberecht, W., 2007. Overexpression of mutant superoxide dismutase 1 causes a motor axonopathy in the zebrafish. Hum. Mol. Genet. 16, 2359-2365.
- Lemon, R.N., 2008. Descending pathways in motor control. Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 31, 195-218.
- Lessman, C.A., 2011. The developing zebrafish (Danio rerio): a vertebrate model for high-throughput screening of chemical libraries. Birth Defects Res. C: Embryo Today 93, 268-280.
- Leung, L.C., Wang, G.X., Mourrain, P., 2013. Imaging zebrafish neural circuitry from
- whole brain to synapse. Front. Neural Circ. 7, 76. Lewinski, F., Keller, B.U., 2005. Ca²⁺, mitochondria and selective motoneuron vulnerability: implications for ALS. Trends Neurosci. 28, 494-500.
- Lewis, K.E., Eisen, J.S., 2003. From cells to circuits: development of the zebrafish spinal cord. Prog. Neurobiol. 69, 419–449.
- Li, Y.R., King, O.D., Shorter, J., Gitler, A.D., 2013. Stress granules as crucibles of ALS pathogenesis. J. Cell Biol. 201, 361-372.
- Lieschke, G.J., Currie, P.D., 2007. Animal models of human disease: zebrafish swim into view. Nat. Rev. Genet. 8, 353-367.
- Lin, P., Li, J., Liu, Q., Mao, F., Li, J., Qiu, R., Hu, H., Song, Y., Yang, Y., Gao, G., Yan, C., Yang, W., Shao, C., Gong, Y., 2008. A missense mutation in SLC33A1, which encodes the acetyl-CoA transporter, causes autosomal-dominant spastic paraplegia (SPG42). Am. J. Hum. Genet. 83, 752-759.

- Liu, K.S., Fetcho, J.R., 1999. Laser ablations reveal functional relationships of segmental hindbrain neurons in zebrafish. Neuron 23, 325–335.
- Logroscino, G., Traynor, B.J., Hardiman, O., Chio, A., Couratier, P., Mitchell, J.D., Swingler, R.J., Beghi, E., 2008. Descriptive epidemiology of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: new evidence and unsolved issues. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry 79, 6–11.
- Lotti, F., Imlach, W.L., Saieva, L., Beck, E.S., Hao, le T., Li, D.K., Jiao, W., Mentis, G.Z., Beattie, C.E., McCabe, B.D., Pellizzoni, L., 2012. An SMN-dependent U12 splicing event essential for motor circuit function. Cell 151, 440–454.
- Lyon, A.N., Pineda, R.H., Hao, L.T., Kudryashova, E., Kudryashov, D.S., Beattie, C.E., 2014. Calcium binding is essential for plastin3 function in Smn-deficient motor neurons. Hum. Mol. Genet. 23, 1990–2004.
- Lyons, D.A., Naylor, S.G., Mercurio, S., Dominguez, C., Talbot, W.S., 2008. KBP is essential for axonal structure, outgrowth and maintenance in zebrafish, providing insight into the cellular basis of Goldberg-Shprintzen syndrome. Development 135, 599–608.
- Makela-Bengs, P., Jarvinen, N., Vuopala, K., Suomalainen, A., Ignatius, J., Sipila, M., Herva, R., Palotie, A., Peltonen, L., 1998. Assignment of the disease locus for lethal congenital contracture syndrome to a restricted region of chromosome 9q34, by genome scan using five affected individuals. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 63, 506–516.
- Martin, E., Cazenave, W., Cattaert, D., Branchereau, P., 2013a. Embryonic alteration of motoneuronal morphology induces hyperexcitability in the mouse model of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Neurobiol. Dis. 54, 116–126.
- Martin, E., Schüle, R., Smets, K., Rastetter, A., Boukhris, A., Loureiro, J.L., Gonzalez, M.A., Mundwiller, E., Deconinck, T., Wessner, M., Jornea, L., Oteyza, A.C., Durr, A., Martin, J.J., Schöls, L., Mhiri, C., Lamari, F., Züchner, S., De Jonghe, P., Kabashi, E., Brice, A., Stevanin, G., 2013b. Loss of function of glucocerebrosidase GBA2 is responsible for motor neuron defects in hereditary spastic paraplegia. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 92, 238–244.
- Martin, E., Yanicostas, C., Rastetter, A., Naini, S.M., Maouedj, A., Kabashi, E., Rivaud-Péchoux, S., Brice, A., Stevanin, G., Soussi-Yanicostas, N., 2012. Spatacsin and spastizin act in the same pathway required for proper spinal motor neuron axon outgrowth in zebrafish. Neurobiol. Dis. 48, 299–308.
- McGoldrick, P., Joyce, P.I., Fisher, E.M., Greensmith, L., 2013. Rodent models of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1832, 1421–1436.
- McGown, A., McDearmid, J.R., Panagiotaki, N., Tong, H., Al Mashhadi, S., Redhead, N., Lyon, A.N., Beattie, C.E., Shaw, P.J., Ramesh, T.M., 2013. Early interneuron dysfunction in ALS: insights from a mutant sod1 zebrafish model. Ann. Neurol. 73, 246–258.
- McLean, D.L., Fetcho, J.R., 2011. Movement, technology and discovery in the zebrafish. Curr. Opin. Neurol. 21, 110–115.
- McWhorter, M.L., Boon, K.L., Horan, E.S., Burghes, A.H., Beattie, C.E., 2008. The SMN binding protein Gemin2 is not involved in motor axon outgrowth. Dev. Neurobiol. 68, 182–194.
- McWhorter, M.L., Monani, U.R., Burghes, A.H., Beattie, C.E., 2003. Knockdown of the survival motor neuron (Smn) protein in zebrafish causes defects in motor axon outgrowth and pathfinding. J. Cell Biol. 162, 919–931.
- Menelaou, E., McLean, D., 2012. A gradient in endogenous rhythmicity and oscillatory drive matches recruitment order in an axial motor pool. J. Neurosci. 32, 10925–10939.
- Menelaou, E., Svoboda, K.R., 2009. Secondary motoneurons in juvenile and adult zebrafish: axonal pathfinding errors caused by embryonic nicotine exposure. J. Comp. Neurol. 512, 305–322.
- Messina, M.F., Autunno, M., Koehler, K., Russo, M., Arrigo, T., Crisafulli, G., Huebner, A., De Luca, F., 2009. Upper and lower motor neuron involvement as presenting manifestation of Triple A syndrome. J. Endocrinol. Invest. 32, 482–483.
- Metcalfe, W.K., Mendelson, B., Kimmel, C.B., 1986. Segmental homologies among reticulospinal neurons in the hindbrain of the zebrafish larva. J. Comp. Neurol. 251, 147–159.
- Millecamps, S., Boillee, S., Le Ber, I., Seilhean, D., Teyssou, E., Giraudeau, M., Moigneu, C., Vandenberghe, N., Danel-Brunaud, V., Corcia, P., Pradat, P.F., Le Forestier, N., Lacomblez, L., Bruneteau, G., Camu, W., Brice, A., Cazeneuve, C., Leguern, E., Meininger, V., Salachas, F., 2012. Phenotype difference between ALS patients with expanded repeats in C90RF72 and patients with mutations in other ALS-related genes. J. Med. Genet. 49, 258–263.
- Millecamps, S., Salachas, F., Cazeneuve, C., Gordon, P., Bricka, B., Camuzat, A., Guillot-Noel, L., Russaouen, O., Bruneteau, G., Pradat, P.F., Le Forestier, N., Vandenberghe, N., Danel-Brunaud, V., Guy, N., Thauvin-Robinet, C., Lacomblez, L., Couratier, P., Hannequin, D., Seilhean, D., Le Ber, I., Corcia, P., Camu, W., Brice, A., Rouleau, G., LeGuern, E., Meininger, V., 2010. SOD1, ANG, VAPB, TARDBP, and FUS mutations in familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: genotype–phenotype correlations. J. Med. Genet. 47, 554–560.
- Mirat, O., Sternberg, J.R., Severi, K.E., Wyart, C., 2013. ZebraZoom: an automated program for high-throughput behavioral analysis and categorization. Front. Neural Circ. 7, 107.
- Moreno, R.L., Ribera, A.B., 2009. Zebrafish motor neuron subtypes differ electrically prior to axonal outgrowth. J. Neurophysiol. 102, 2477–2484.
- Morimura, R., Nozawa, K., Tanaka, H., Ohshima, T., 2013. Phosphorylation of Dpsyl2 (CRMP2) and Dpsyl3 (CRMP4) is required for positioning of caudal primary motor neurons in the zebrafish spinal cord. Dev. Neurobiol. 73, 911–920. Mueller: Mueller: Mueller: A Market and A Mark
- Mueller, T., Wullimann, M.F., 2005. Atlas of early zebrafish brain development: a tool for molecular neurogenetics. Elsevier Science 183p.
- Murakami, Y., Tanaka, M., 2011. Evolution of motor innervation to vertebrate fins and limbs. Dev. Biol. 355, 164–172.

- Murphey, R.D., Zon, L.I., 2006. Small molecule screening in the zebrafish. Methods 39, 255–261.
- Myers, P.Z., 1985. Spinal motoneurons of the larval zebrafish. J. Comp. Neurol. 236, 555–561.
- Myers, P.Z., Eisen, J.S., Westerfield, M., 1986. Development and axonal outgrowth of identified motoneurons in zebrafish. J. Neurosci. 6, 2278–2289.
- Naumann, E.A., Kampff, A.R., Prober, D.A., Schier, A.F., Engert, F., 2010. Monitoring neural activity with bioluminescence during natural behavior. Nat. Neurosci. 13, 513–520.
- Neumann, M., Sampathu, D.M., Kwong, L.K., Truax, A.C., Micsenyi, M.C., Chou, T.T., Bruce, J., Schuck, T., Grossman, M., Clark, C.M., McCluskey, L.F., Miller, B.L., Masliah, E., Mackenzie, I.R., Feldman, H., Feiden, W., Kretzsch, L.F., Miller, and nowski, J.Q., Lee, V.M., 2006. Ubiquitinated TDP-43 in frontotemporal lobar degeneration and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Science 314, 130–133.
- Neveling, K., Martinez-Carrera, L.A., Hölker, I., Heister, A., Verrips, A., Hosseini-Barkooie, S.M., Gilissen, C., Vermeer, S., Pennings, M., Meijer, R., Te Riele, M., Frijns, C.J., Suchowersky, O., Maclaren, L., Rudnik-Schöneborn, S., Sinke, R.J., Zerres, K., Lowry, R.B., Lemmink, H.H., Garbes, L., Veltman, J.A., Schelhaas, H.J., Scheffer, H., Wirth, B., 2013. Mutations in BICD2, which encodes a golgin and important motor adaptor, cause congenital autosomal-dominant spinal muscular atrophy. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 92, 946–954.
- Ni, T.T., Lu, J., Zhu, M., Maddison, L.A., Boyd, K.L., Huskey, L., Ju, B., Hesselson, D., Zhong, T.P., Page-McCaw, P.S., Stainier, D.Y., Chen, W., 2012. Conditional control of gene function by an invertible gene trap in zebrafish. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 109, 15389–15394.
- Nicole, S., Diaz, C.C., Frugier, T., Melki, J., 2002. Spinal muscular atrophy: recent advances and future prospects. Muscle Nerve 26, 4–13.
- Norton, W., Bally-Cuif, L., 2010. Adult zebrafish as a model organism for behavioural genetics. BMC Neurosci. 11, 90.
- Nousiainen, H.O., Kestila, M., Pakkasjarvi, N., Honkala, H., Kuure, S., Tallila, J., Vuopala, K., Ignatius, J., Herva, R., Peltonen, L., 2008. Mutations in mRNA export mediator GLE1 result in a fetal motoneuron disease. Nat. Genet. 40, 155–157.
- Novarino, G., Fenstermaker, A.G., Zaki, M.S., Hofree, M., Silhavy, J.L., Heiberg, A.D., Abdellateef, M., Rosti, B., Scott, E., Mansour, L., Masri, A., Kayserili, H., Al-Aama, J.Y., Abdel-Salam, G.M., Karminejad, A., Kara, M., Kara, B., Bozorgmehri, B., Ben-Omran, T., Mojahedi, F., Mahmoud, I.G., Bouslam, N., Bouhouche, A., Benomar, A., Hanein, S., Raymond, L., Forlani, S., Mascaro, M., Selim, L., Shehata, N., Al-Allawi, N., Bindu, P.S., Azam, M., Gunel, M., Caglayan, A., Bilguvar, K., Tolun, A., Issa, M.Y., Schroth, J., Spencer, E.G., Rosti, R.O., Akizu, N., Vaux, K.K., Johansen, A., Koh, A.A., Megahed, H., Durr, A., Brice, A., Stevanin, G., Gabrie, S.B., Ideker, T., Gleeson, J.G., 2014. Exome sequencing links corticospinal motor neuron disease to common neurodegenerative disorders. Science 343, 506–511.
- Oates, E.C., Rossor, A.M., Hafezparast, M., Gonzalez, M., Speziani, F., Macarthur, D.G., Lek, M., Cottenie, E., Scoto, M., Foley, A.R., Hurles, M., Houlden, H., Greensmith, L., Auer-Grumbach, M., Pieber, T.R., Strom, T.M., Schule, R., Herrmann, D.N., Sowden, J.E., Acsadi, G., Menezes, M.P., Clarke, N.F., Züchner, S., UK10K, Muntoni, F., North, K.N., Reilly, M.M., 2013. Mutations in BICD2 cause dominant congenital spinal muscular atrophy and hereditary spastic paraplegia. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 92, 965–973.
- Oprea, G.E., Krober, S., McWhorter, M.L., Rossoll, W., Muller, S., Krawczak, M., Bassell, G.J., Beattie, C.E., Wirth, B., 2008. Plastin 3 is a protective modifier of autosomal recessive spinal muscular atrophy. Science 320, 524–527.
- Panula, P., Chen, Y.C., Priyadarshini, M., Kudo, H., Semenova, S., Sundvik, M., Sallinen, V., 2010. The comparative neuroanatomy and neurochemistry of zebrafish CNS systems of relevance to human neuropsychiatric diseases. Neurobiol. Dis. 40, 46–57.
- Patestas, M.A., Gartner, L.P., 2006. A Textbook of Neuroanatomy. Blackwell Publishing, Malden, MA.
- Patten, S.A., Ali, D.W., 2007. AMPA receptors associated with zebrafish Mauthner cells switch subunits during development. J. Physiol. 581, 1043–1056.
- Peal, D.S., Peterson, R.T., Milan, D., 2010. Small molecule screening in zebrafish. J. Cardiovasc. Transl. Res. 3, 454–460.
- Peeters, K., Litvinenko, I., Asselbergh, B., Almeida-Souza, L., Chamova, T., Geuens, T., Ydens, E., Zimoń, M., Irobi, J., De Vriendt, E., De Winter, V., Ooms, T., Timmerman, V., Tournev, I., Jordanova, A., 2013. Molecular defects in the motor adaptor BICD2 cause proximal spinal muscular atrophy with autosomal-dominant inheritance. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 92, 955–964.
- Peterson, R.T., Shaw, S.Y., Peterson, T.A., Milan, D.J., Zhong, T.P., Schreiber, S.L., MacRae, C.A., Fishman, M.C., 2004. Chemical suppression of a genetic mutation in a zebrafish model of aortic coarctation. Nat. Biotechnol. 22, 595–599.
- Pineda, R.H., Svoboda, K.R., Wright, M.A., Taylor, A.D., Novak, A.E., Gamse, J.T., Eisen, J.S., Ribera, A.B., 2006. Knockdown of Nav1.6a Na⁺ channels affects zebrafish motoneuron development. Development 133, 3827–3836.
- Plucińska, G., Paquet, D., Hruscha, A., Godinho, L., Haass, C., Schmid, B., Misgeld, T., 2012. In vivo imaging of disease-related mitochondrial dynamics in a vertebrate model system. J. Neurosci. 32, 16203–16212.
- Postlethwait, J., Amores, A., Cresko, W., Singer, A., Yan, Y.L., 2004. Subfunction partitioning, the teleost radiation and the annotation of the human genome. Trends Genet. 20, 481–490.
- Pratt, A.J., Getzoff, E.D., Perry, J.J., 2012. Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: update and new developments. Degener. Neurol. Neuromuscul. Dis. 2012, 1–14.
- Purves, D., Augustine, G.J., Fitzpatrick, D., Katz, L.C., LaMantia, A.S., McNamara, J.O., Williams, S.M., 2001. Neurosciences, 2nd ed. Sinauer Associates, Sunderland, MA.
- Raldúa, D., André, M., Babin, P.J., 2008. Clofibrate and gemfibrozil induce an embryonic malabsorption syndrome in zebrafish. Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. 228, 301–314.

- Raldúa, D., Barata, C., Casado, M., Faria, M., Navas, J.M., Olivares, A., Oliveira, E., Pelayo, S., Thienpont, B., Piña, B., 2012. Zebrafish as a vertebrate model to assess sublethal effects and health risks of emerging pollutants. In: Barcelo, D. (Ed.), The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry. Springer, Berlin/Heidelberg, pp. 395–414.
- Ramesh, T., Lyon, A.N., Pineda, R.H., Wang, C., Janssen, P.M., Canan, B.D., Burghes, A.H., Beattie, C.E., 2010. A genetic model of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis in zebrafish displays phenotypic hallmarks of motoneuron disease. Dis. Model Mech. 3, 652–662.
- Reimer, M.M., Norris, A., Ohnmacht, J., Patani, R., Zhong, Z., Dias, T.B., Kuscha, V., Scott, A.L., Chen, Y.C., Rozov, S., Frazer, S.L., Wyatt, C., Higashijima, S., Patton, E.E., Panula, P., Chandran, S., Becker, T., Becker, C.G., 2013. Dopamine from the brain promotes spinal motor neuron generation during development and adult regeneration. Dev. Cell 25, 478–491.
- Reimer, M.M., Sörensen, I., Kuscha, V., Frank, R.E., Liu, C., Becker, C.G., Becker, T., 2008. Motor neuron regeneration in adult zebrafish. J. Neurosci. 28, 8510–8516. Rihel, J., Schier, A.F., 2012. Behavioral screening for neuroactive drugs in zebrafish.
- Dev. Neurobiol. 72, 373–385. Rinkwitz, S., Mourrain, P., Becker, T.S., 2011. Zebrafish: an integrative system for
- neurogenomics and neurosciences. Prog. Neurobiol. 93, 231–243.
- Robberecht, W., Philips, T., 2013. The changing scene of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 14, 248–264.
- Robu, M.E., Larson, J.D., Nasevicius, A., Beiraghi, S., Brenner, C., Farber, S.A., Ekker, S.C., 2007. p53 activation by knockdown technologies. PLoS Genet. 3, e78.
- Romanelli, E., Sorbara, C.D., Nikić, I., Dagkalis, A., Misgeld, T., Kerschensteiner, M., 2013. Cellular, subcellular and functional in vivo labeling of the spinal cord using vital dyes. Nat. Protoc. 8, 481–490.
- Ronneberger, O., Liu, K., Rath, M., Rueβ, D., Mueller, T., Skibbe, H., et al., 2012. ViBE-Z: a framework for 3D virtual colocalization analysis in zebrafish larval brains. Nat. Methods 9, 735–742.
- Rossor, A.M., Kalmar, B., Greensmith, L., Reilly, M.M., 2012. The distal hereditary motor neuropathies. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry 83, 6–14.
- Rowland, A.A., Voeltz, G.K., 2012. Endoplasmic reticulum-mitochondria contacts: function of the junction. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 13, 607–625.
- Rowland, L.P., Shneider, N.A., 2001. Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. N. Engl. J. Med. 344, 1688–1700.
- Sakowski, S.A., Lunn, J.S., Busta, A.S., Oh, S.S., Zamora-Berridi, G., Palmer, M., Rosenberg, A.A., Philip, S.G., Dowling, J.J., Feldman, E.L., 2012. Neuromuscular effects of G93A-SOD1 expression in zebrafish. Mol. Neurodegener. 7, 44.
- Salinas, S., Proukakis, C., Crosby, A., Warner, T.T., 2008. Hereditary spastic paraplegia: clinical features and pathogenetic mechanisms. Lancet Neurol. 7, 1127– 1138.
- Sánchez-Camacho, C., Marín, O., Donkelaar, H.J., González, A., 2001. Descending supraspinal pathways in amphibians. I. A dextran amine tracing study of their cells of origin. J. Comp. Neurol. 434, 186–208.
- Sander, J.D., Cade, L., Khayter, C., Reyon, D., Peterson, R.T., Joung, J.K., Yeh, J.R., 2011. Targeted gene disruption in somatic zebrafish cells using engineered TALENs. Nat. Biotechnol. 29, 697–698.
- Sathasivam, S., 2010. Motor neurone disease: clinical features, diagnosis, diagnostic pitfalls and prognostic markers. Singapore Med. J. 51, 367–372 (quiz 373).
- Sato, T., Hamaoka, T., Aizawa, H., Hosoya, T., Okamoto, H., 2007. Genetic single-cell mosaic analysis implicates ephrinB2 reverse signaling in projections from the posterior tectum to the hindbrain in zebrafish. J. Neurosci. 27, 5271–5279.
- Satou, C., Kimura, Y., Hirata, H., Suster, M.L., Kawakami, K., Higashijima, S., 2013. Transgenic tools to characterize neuronal properties of discrete populations of zebrafish neurons. Development 140, 3927–3931.
- Schartl, M., Walter, R.B., Shen, Y., Garcia, T., Catchen, J., Amores, A., Braasch, I., Chalopin, D., Volff, J.N., Lesch, K.P., Bisazza, A., Minx, P., Hillier, L., Wilson, R.K., Fuerstenberg, S., Boore, J., Searle, S., Postlethwait, J.H., Warren, W.C., 2013. The genome of the platyfish, *Xiphophorus maculatus*, provides insights into evolutionary adaptation and several complex traits. Nat. Genet. 45, 567–572.
- Schmid, B., Hruscha, A., Hogl, S., Banzhaf-Strathmann, J., Strecker, K., van der Zee, J., Teucke, M., Eimer, S., Hegermann, J., Kittelmann, M., Kremmer, E., Cruts, M., Solchenberger, B., Hasenkamp, L., van Bebber, F., Van Broeckhoven, C., Edbauer, D., Lichtenthaler, S.F., Haass, C., 2013. Loss of ALS-associated TDP-43 in zebrafish causes muscle degeneration, vascular dysfunction, and reduced motor neuron axon outgrowth. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 110, 4986–4991.
- Schweitzer, J., Becker, T., Lefebvre, J., Granato, M., Schachner, M., Becker, C.G., 2005. Tenascin-C is involved in motor axon outgrowth in the trunk of developing zebrafish. Dev. Dyn. 234, 550–566.
- See, K., Yadav, P., Giegerich, M., Cheong, P.S., Graf, M., Vyas, H., Lee, S.G., Mathavan, S., Fischer, U., Sendtner, M., Winkler, C., 2014. SMN-deficiency alters Nrxn2 expression and splicing in zebrafish and mouse models of spinal muscular atrophy. Hum. Mol. Genet. 23, 1754–1770.
- Stepto, A., Gallo, J.M., Shaw, C.E., Hirth, F., 2014. Modelling C9ORF72 hexanucleotide repeat expansion in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis and frontotemporal dementia. Acta Neuropathol. 127, 377–389.
- Seredick, S.D., Van Ryswyk, L., Hutchinson, S.A., Eisen, J.S., 2012. Zebrafish Mnx proteins specify one motoneuron subtype and suppress acquisition of interneuron characteristics. Neural Dev. 7, 35.
- Seth, A., Stemple, D.L., Barroso, I., 2013. The emerging use of zebrafish to model metabolic disease. Dis Model Mech. 6, 1080–1088.
- Simpson, C.L., Lemmens, R., Miskiewicz, K., Broom, W.J., Hansen, V.K., van Vught, P.W., Landers, J.E., Sapp, P., Van Den Bosch, L., Knight, J., Neale, B.M., Turner, M.R., Veldink, J.H., Ophoff, R.A., Tripathi, V.B., Beleza, A., Shah, M.N., Proitsi, P., Van Hoecke, A., Carmeliet, P., Horvitz, H.R., Leigh, P.N., Shaw, C.E., van den Berg, L.H.,

Sham, P.C., Powell, J.F., Verstreken, P., Brown Jr., R.H., Robberecht, W., Al-Chalabi, A., 2009. Variants of the elongator protein 3 (ELP3) gene are associated with motor neuron degeneration. Hum. Mol. Genet. 18, 472–481.

- Słabicki, M., Theis, M., Krastev, D.B., Samsonov, S., Mundwiller, E., Junqueira, M., Paszkowski-Rogacz, M., Teyra, J., Heninger, A.K., Poser, I., Prieur, F., Truchetto, J., Confavreux, C., Marelli, C., Durr, A., Camdessanche, J.P., Brice, A., Shevchenko, A., Pisabarro, M.T., Stevanin, G., Buchholz, F., 2010. A genome-scale DNA repair RNAi screen identifies SPG48 as a novel gene associated with hereditary spastic paraplegia. PLoS Biol. 8, e1000408.
- Sleigh, J.N., Barreiro-Iglesias, A., Oliver, P.L., Biba, A., Becker, T., Davies, K.E., Becker, C.G., Talbot, K., 2014. Chondrolectin affects cell survival and neuronal outgrowth in in vitro and in vivo models of spinal muscular atrophy. Hum. Mol. Genet. 23, 855–869.
- Sleigh, J.N., Gillingwater, T.H., Talbot, K., 2011. The contribution of mouse models to understanding the pathogenesis of spinal muscular atrophy. Dis. Model Mech. 4, 457–467.
- Schmid, B., Haass, C., 2013. Genomic editing opens new avenues for zebrafish as a model for neurodegeneration. J. Neurochem. 127, 461–470.
- Smith, T.F., Gaitatzes, C., Saxena, K., Neer, E.J., 1999. The WD repeat: a common architecture for diverse functions. Trends Biochem. Sci. 24, 181–185.
- Song, Y., Wang, M., Mao, F., Shao, M., Zhao, B., Song, Z., Shao, C., Gong, Y., 2013. Knockdown of Pnpla6 protein results in motor neuron defects in zebrafish. Dis. Model Mech. 6, 404–413.
- Southgate, L., Dafou, D., Hoyle, J., Li, N., Kinning, E., Critchley, P., Németh, A.H., Talbot, K., Bindu, P.S., Sinha, S., Taly, A.B., Raghavendra, S., Müller, F., Maher, E.R., Trembath, R.C., 2010. Novel SPG11 mutations in Asian kindreds and disruption of spatacsin function in the zebrafish. Neurogenetics 11, 379–389.
- Spagnoli, C., De Sousa, C., 2012. Brown-Vialetto-Van Laere syndrome and Fazio-Londe disease – treatable motor neuron diseases of childhood. Dev. Med. Child Neurol. 54, 292–293.
- Stevanin, G., Ruberg, M., Brice, A., 2008. Recent advances in the genetics of spastic paraplegias. Curr. Neurol. Neurosci. Rep. 8, 198–210.
- Sumbre, G., Poo, M.M., 2013. Monitoring tectal neuronal activities and motor behavior in zebrafish larvae. Cold Spring Harb. Protoc. 2013, 873–879.
- Sylvain, N.J., Brewster, D.L., Ali, D.W., 2010. Zebrafish embryos exposed to alcohol undergo abnormal development of motor neurons and muscle fibers. Neurotoxicol. Teratol. 32, 472–480.
- Tamplin, O.J., White, R.M., Jing, L., Kaufman, C.K., Lacadie, S.A., Li, P., Taylor, A.M., Zon, L.I., 2012. Small molecule screening in zebrafish: swimming in potential drug therapies. Wiley Interdiscip. Rev. Dev. Biol. 1, 459–468.
- Tanaka, H., Maeda, R., Shoji, W., Wada, H., Masai, I., Shiraki, T., Kobayashi, M., Nakayama, R., Okamoto, H., 2007. Novel mutations affecting axon guidance in zebrafish and a role for plexin signalling in the guidance of trigeminal and facial nerve axons. Development 134, 3259–3269.
- Tartaglia, M.C., Rowe, A., Findlater, K., Orange, J.B., Grace, G., Strong, M.J., 2007. Differentiation between primary lateral sclerosis and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: examination of symptoms and signs at disease onset and during follow-up. Arch. Neurol. 64, 232–236.
- Tesson, C., Nawara, M., Salih, M.A., Rossignol, R., Zaki, M.S., Al Balwi, M., Schule, R., Mignot, C., Obre, E., Bouhouche, A., Santorelli, F.M., Durand, C.M., Oteyza, A.C., El-Hachimi, K.H., Al Drees, A., Bouslam, N., Lamari, F., Elmalik, S.A., Kabiraj, M.M., Seidahmed, M.Z., Esteves, T., Gaussen, M., Monin, M.L., Gyapay, G., Lechner, D., Gonzalez, M., Depienne, C., Mochel, F., Lavie, J., Schols, L., Lacombe, D., Yahyaoui, M., Al Abdulkareem, I., Zuchner, S., Yamashita, A., Benomar, A., Goizet, C., Durr, A., Gleeson, J.G., Darios, F., Brice, A., Stevanin, G., 2012. Alteration of fatty-acid-metabolizing enzymes affects mitochondrial form and function in hereditary spastic paraplegia. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 91, 1051– 1064.
- Thorsen, D.H., Hale, M.E., 2007. Neural development of the zebrafish (*Danio rerio*) pectoral fin. J. Comp. Neurol. 504, 168–184.
- Tomchik, S.M., Lu, Z., 2005. Octavolateral projections and organization in the medulla of a teleost fish, the sleeper goby (*Dormitator latifrons*). J. Comp. Neurol. 481, 96–117.
- Tong, H., McDearmid, J.R., 2012. Pacemaker and plateau potentials shape output of a developing locomotor network. Curr. Biol. 22, 2285–2293.
- Trojsi, F., Monsurrò, M.R., Tedeschi, G., 2013. Exposure to environmental toxicants and pathogenesis of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: state of the art and research perspectives. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 14, 15286–15311.
- Tsay, H.J., Wang, Y.H., Chen, W.L., Huang, M.Y., Chen, Y.H., 2007. Treatment with sodium benzoate leads to malformation of zebrafish larvae. Neurotoxicol. Teratol. 29, 562–569.
- Tullio-Pelet, A., Salomon, R., Hadj-Rabia, S., Mugnier, C., de Laet, M.H., Chaouachi, B., Bakiri, F., Brottier, P., Cattolico, L., Penet, C., Bégeot, M., Naville, D., Nicolino, M., Chaussain, J.L., Weissenbach, J., Munnich, A., Lyonnet, S., 2000. Mutation of a novel WD-repeat protein gene in Allgrove (Triple A) syndrome. Nat. Genet. 26, 332–335.
- Vaccaro, A., Patten, S.A., Aggad, D., Julien, C., Maios, C., Kabashi, E., Drapeau, P., Parker, J.A., 2013. Pharmacological reduction of ER stress protects against TDP-43 neuronal toxicity in vivo. Neurobiol. Dis. 55, 64–75.
- Vaccaro, A., Patten, S.A., Ciura, S., Maios, C., Therrien, M., Drapeau, P., Kabashi, E., Parker, J.A., 2012. Methylene blue protects against TDP-43 and FUS neuronal toxicity in *C. elegans* and *D. rerio*. PLoS ONE 7, e42117.
- Valdmanis, P.N., Meijer, I.A., Reynolds, A., Lei, A., MacLeod, P., Schlesinger, D., Zatz, M., Reid, E., Dion, P.A., Drapeau, P., Rouleau, G.A., 2007. Mutations in the KIAA0196 gene at the SPG8 locus cause hereditary spastic paraplegia. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 80, 152–161.

Van Damme, P., Robberecht, W., 2009. Recent advances in motor neuron disease. Curr. Opin. Neurol. 22, 486–492.

- Van Damme, P., Van Den Bosch, L., Van Houtte, E., Callewaert, G., Robberecht, W., 2002. GluR2-dependent properties of AMPA receptors determine the selective vulnerability of motor neurons to excitotoxicity. J. Neurophysiol. 88, 1279– 1287.
- Van Hoecke, A., Schoonaert, L., Lemmens, R., Timmers, M., Staats, K.A., Laird, A.S., Peeters, E., Philips, T., Goris, A., Dubois, B., Andersen, P.M., Al-Chalabi, A., Thijs, V., Turnley, A.M., van Vught, P.W., Veldink, J.H., Hardiman, O., Van Den Bosch, L., Gonzalez-Perez, P., Van Damme, P., Brown Jr., R.H., van den Berg, L.H., Robberecht, W., 2012. EPHA4 is a disease modifier of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis in animal models and in humans. Nat. Med. 18, 1418–1422.
- Van Ryswyk, L., Simonson, L., Eisen, J.S., 2014. The role of inab in axon morphology of an identified zebrafish motoneuron. PLoS ONE 9, e88631.
- Vance, C., Rogelj, B., Hortobagyi, T., De Vos, K.J., Nishimura, A.L., Sreedharan, J., Hu, X., Smith, B., Ruddy, D., Wright, P., Ganesalingam, J., Williams, K.L., Tripathi, V., Al-Saraj, S., Al-Chalabi, A., Leigh, P.N., Blair, I.P., Nicholson, G., de Belleroche, J., Gallo, J.M., Miller, C.C., Shaw, C.E., 2009. Mutations in FUS, an RNA processing protein, cause familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis type 6. Science 323, 1208– 1211.
- Vandenberghe, W., Robberecht, W., Brorson, J.R., 2000. AMPA receptor calcium permeability, GluR2 expression, and selective motoneuron vulnerability. J. Neurosci. 20, 123–132.
- Varshney, G.K., Burgess, S.M., 2013. Mutagenesis and phenotyping resources in zebrafish for studying development and human disease. Brief Funct. Genomics 13, 82–94.
- Vatine, G.D., Zada, D., Lerer-Goldshtein, T., Tovin, A., Malkinson, G., Yaniv, K., Appelbaum, L., 2013. Zebrafish as a model for monocarboxyl transporter 8deficiency. J. Biol. Chem. 288, 169–180.
- Velde, C.V., Garcia, M.L., Yin, X., Trapp, B.D., Cleveland, D.W., 2004. The neuroprotective factor Wld^s does not attenuate mutant SOD1-mediated motor neuron disease. Neuromolecular Med. 5, 193–203.
- Vettori, A., Bergamin, G., Moro, E., Vazza, G., Polo, G., Tiso, N., Argenton, F., Mostacciuolo, M.L., 2011. Developmental defects and neuromuscular alterations due to mitofusin 2 gene (MFN2) silencing in zebrafish: a new model for Charcot-Marie-Tooth type 2A neuropathy. Neuromuscul. Disord. 21, 58–67.
- Wan, J., Yourshaw, M., Mamsa, H., Rudnik-Schöneborn, S., Menezes, M.P., Hong, J.E., Leong, D.W., Senderek, J., Salman, M.S., Chitayat, D., Seeman, P., von Moers, A., Graul-Neumann, L., Kornberg, A.J., Castro-Gago, M., Sobrido, M.J., Sanefuji, M., Shieh, P.B., Salamon, N., Kim, R.C., Vinters, H.V., Chen, Z., Zerres, K., Ryan, M.M., Nelson, S.F., Jen, J.C., 2012. Mutations in the RNA exosome component gene EXOSC3 cause pontocerebellar hypoplasia and spinal motor neuron degeneration. Nat. Genet. 44, 704–708.
- Weiss, J.H., 2011. Ca²⁺ permeable AMPA channels in diseases of the nervous system. Front. Mol. Neurosci. 4, 42.
- Welsh, L., Tanguay, R.L., Svoboda, K.R., 2009. Uncoupling nicotine mediated motoneuron axonal pathfinding errors and muscle degeneration in zebrafish. Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. 237, 29–40.
- Westerfield, M., McMurray, J.V., Eisen, J.S., 1986. Identified motoneurons and their innervation of axial muscles in the zebrafish. J. Neurosci. 6, 2267–2277.
- Weterman, M.A., Sorrentino, V., Kasher, P.R., Jakobs, M.E., van Engelen, B.G., Fluiter, K., de Wissel, M.B., Sizarov, A., Nürnberg, G., Nürnberg, P., Zelcer, N., Schelhaas, H.J., Baas, F., 2012. A frameshift mutation in LRSAM1 is responsible for a dominant hereditary polyneuropathy. Hum. Mol. Genet. 21, 358–370.
- White, R.M., Sessa, A., Burke, C., Bowman, T., LeBlanc, J., Ceol, C., Bourque, C., Dovey, M., Goessling, W., Burns, C.E., Zon, L.I., 2008. Transparent adult zebrafish as a tool for in vivo transplantation analysis. Cell Stem Cell 2, 183–189.
- Wilson, S., Symonds, A., Bianco, I., Turner, K., Folgueira, M., O'Connor, S., et al., 2012. Zebrafish Brain Atlas. University College London, King's College London. available online at: www.zebrafishbrain.org.

- Winkler, C., Eggert, C., Gradl, D., Meister, G., Giegerich, M., Wedlich, D., Laggerbauer, B., Fischer, U., 2005. Reduced U snRNP assembly causes motor axon degeneration in an animal model for spinal muscular atrophy. Gen. Dent. 19, 2320–2330.
- Wishart, T.M., Mutsaers, C.A., Riessland, M., Reimer, M.M., Hunter, G., Hannam, M.L., Eaton, S.L., Fuller, H.R., Roche, S.L., Somers, E., Morse, R., Young, P.J., Lamont, D.J., Hammerschmidt, M., Joshi, A., Hohenstein, P., Morris, G.E., Parson, S.H., Skehel, P.A., Becker, T., Robinson, I.M., Becker, C.G., Wirth, B., Gillingwater, T.H., 2014. Dysregulation of ubiquitin homeostasis and β-catenin signaling promote spinal muscular atrophy. J. Clin. Invest., http://dx.doi.org/10.1172/JCI71318, pii:71318.
- Wolman, M., Granato, M., 2012. Behavioral genetics in larval zebrafish: learning from the young. Dev. Neurobiol. 72, 366–372.
- Wolman, M.A., Regnery, A.M., Becker, T., Becker, C.G., Halloran, M.C., 2007. Semaphorin3D regulates axon-axon interactions by modulating levels of L1 cell adhesion molecule. J. Neurosci. 27, 9653–9663.
- Wood, J.D., Landers, J.A., Bingley, M., McDermott, C.J., Thomas-McArthur, V., Gleadall, L.J., Shaw, P.J., Cunliffe, V.T., 2006. The microtubule-severing protein Spastin is essential for axon outgrowth in the zebrafish embryo. Hum. Mol. Genet. 15, 2763–2771.
- Wullimann, M.F., Rupp, B., Reichert, H., 1996. Neuroanatomy of the Zebrafish Brain. A Topological Atlas. Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, Switzerland, pp. 160.
- Wyart, C., Del Bene, F., Warp, E., Scott, E.K., Trauner, D., Baier, H., Isacoff, E.Y., 2009. Optogenetic dissection of a behavioural module in the vertebrate spinal cord. Nature 461, 407–410.
- Xi, Y., Noble, S., Ekker, M., 2011. Modeling neurodegeneration in zebrafish. Curr. Neurol. Neurosci. Rep. 11, 274–282.
- Yang, D., Lauridsen, H., Buels, K., Chi, L.H., La Du, J., Bruun, D.A., Olson, J.R., Tanguay, R.L., Lein, P.J., 2011. Chlorpyrifos-oxon disrupts zebrafish axonal growth and motor behavior. Toxicol. Sci. 121, 146–159.
- Zelenchuk, T.A., Brusé, J.L., 2011. In vivo labeling of zebrafish motor neurons using an mnx1 enhancer and Gal4/UAS. Genesis 49, 546–554.
- Zerres, K., Rudnik-Schoneborn, S., 2003. 93rd ENMC international workshop: non-5q-spinal muscular atrophies (SMA) – clinical picture (6–8 April 2001, Naarden, The Netherlands). Neuromuscul. Disord. 13, 179–183.
- Zerres, K., Rudnik-Schoneborn, S., Forrest, E., Lusakowska, A., Borkowska, J., Hausmanowa-Petrusewicz, I., 1997. A collaborative study on the natural history of childhood and juvenile onset proximal spinal muscular atrophy (type II and III SMA): 569 patients. J. Neurol. Sci. 146, 67–72.
- Zhang, C., Li, D., Ma, Y., Yan, J., Yang, B., Li, P., Yu, A., Lu, C., Ma, X., 2012. Role of spastin and protrudin in neurite outgrowth. J. Cell. Biochem. 113, 2296–2307.
- Zhong, Z., Ohnmacht, J., Reimer, M.M., Bach, I., Becker, T., Becker, C.G., 2012. Chondrolectin mediates growth cone interactions of motor axons with an intermediate target. J. Neurosci. 32, 4426–4439.
- Zhou, J., Tawk, M., Tiziano, F.D., Veillet, J., Bayes, M., Nolent, F., Garcia, V., Servidei, S., Bertini, E., Castro-Giner, F., Renda, Y., Carpentier, S., Andrieu-Abadie, N., Gut, I., Levade, T., Topaloglu, H., Melki, J., 2012. Spinal muscular atrophy associated with progressive myoclonic epilepsy is caused by mutations in ASAH1. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 91, 5–14.
- Zivony-Elboum, Y., Westbroek, W., Kfir, N., Savitzki, D., Shoval, Y., Bloom, A., Rod, R., Khayat, M., Gross, B., Samri, W., Cohen, H., Sonkin, V., Freidman, T., Geiger, D., Fattal-Valevski, A., Anikster, Y., Waters, A.M., Kleta, R., Falik-Zaccai, T.C., 2012. A founder mutation in Vps37A causes autosomal recessive complex hereditary spastic paraparesis. J. Med. Genet. 49, 462–472.
- Zon, L.I., Peterson, R.T., 2005. In vivo drug discovery in the zebrafish. Nat. Rev. Drug Discov. 4, 35-44.
- Zu, Y., Tong, X., Wang, Z., Liu, D., Pan, R., Li, Z., Hu, Y., Luo, Z., Huang, P., Wu, Q., Zhu, Z., Zhang, B., Lin, S., 2013. TALEN-mediated precise genome modification by homologous recombination in zebrafish. Nat. Methods 10, 329–331.